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Monday, August 28, 2006

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  The Board is sitting today to hear arguments in the Natural Gas and Electricity Interface Review pursuant to Procedural Order No. 9, which was issued by the Board on July 13th.  Certain parties were required to file written arguments on August 11th, namely, Union, Market Hub Partners, Enbridge and Enbridge Inc., and they have done so.


The Board is sitting today to hear arguments from all of the other parties orally, although we understand that some of the parties have chosen to file written argument.


May we have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Donna Campbell on behalf of the Board hearing team, accompanied Pascale Duguay.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Campbell.


MR. MORAN:  Pat Moran.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Moran.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for IGUA and AMPCO.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson, nice tan.


MR. LECLERC:  Louis-Andre for Gaz Métro, and I'm accompanied by Louis-Charles Ratelle.


MR. DINGWALL:  Brian Dingwall for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Dingwall.


MR. RYDER:  Alick Ryder for the City of Kitchener, and I'm with Mr. Gruenbauer.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder.


MR. DeVELLIS:  John DeVellis for School Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis.


MR. BROWN:  David Brown for Sithe Global, TransCanada, and the Portlands Energy Centre.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass and David Stevens for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.


MS. ILLSEY:  Karen Illsey for Market Hub Partners.  With me is Mr. Jim Redford.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Illsey.


MR. BRETT:  Mr. Chairman, David Brett for BP Canada Energy Company.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Brett.


MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj for the Board support team.  With me is Rudra Mukherji.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  How do you wish to proceed?


MS. SEBALJ:  I've provided the Panel with a tentative order, which is in accordance with Procedural Order No. 9.  Just before we start, I would ask people to please make sure that you press the green button in order to activate the mike but also make sure to turn it off once you finish speaking, because it does create a lot of disruption in the room.


And the tentative order sees the Board hearing team proceeding first, followed by the Industrial Gas Users Association and AMPCO, Mr. Thompson.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Please proceed.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  

Good morning, Panel.  What I am about to provide to you is of course oral argument, and one of the things that I will not be doing is providing you with the authorities as I provide the oral argument.  So what I propose to do is, at the end, for your ease of reference, to file a copy of the written argument so you have the benefit of the authorities cited.


So without further ado, I propose to start with the oral argument right now, and I acknowledge the significant role that both Ms. Clinesmith and Ms. Duguay have played in providing this final argument, and they are of course available to assist me with any questions that you may have.


We will be making submissions on Issue No. 2, which is of course the storage part of the hearing, only.  And the issue was framed in the Procedural Order No. 1, and the issue is whether to refrain, in whole or in part, from exercising -- the Board exercising its power to regulate the rates charged for the storage of gas in Ontario by considering whether it's a question of fact the storage of gas in Ontario is subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest.


When considering the argument -- considering, rather, the position that the Board hearing team was going to take in front of you, after considering all of the evidence, we kept several objectives in mind.  One of the objectives is the facilitation of an open and competitive market.  Another is the creation of an environment that's conducive to investment in natural gas storage in Ontario, and of course above all assuring that the public interest in all of its manifestations is met.


Now, there were many days of hearing, but the central issue that arises from the extensive evidence that was given concerning the state of the gas storage market in Ontario was whether the primary and secondary markets provided product alternatives to the natural gas storage products offered by Union and Enbridge such that you could find that there was competition sufficient to protect the public interest and, thus, forbear in whole or in part from regulating the gas storage market.


When we were considering the evidence, we considered it as a whole and we considered the public interest issues again in the broadest sense possible.  We also considered  -- and you obviously are seen as representatives of the Panel, must also consider section 2 of the Energy Act, which has particular objectives that are listed to guide the Board.  

And the specific terminology used is:  

"The Board in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other Act in relation to gas shall be guided by the following objectives ..."


And I highlight to you three particular objectives.  2.2:

"To protect the interest of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service."


2.4:

"To facilitate rational development and safe operation of gas storage."


And 2.5.1:

"To facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable gas industry for the transmission, distribution and storage of gas."


Now, in coming to the recommendations I'm about to provide to you in summary form, we assessed the evidence as it evolved during the course of the hearing, the objectives that I just read out to you and the ones that I started with, and the steps that might be taken to foster competition in both the in‑ and the ex‑franchise markets, and the position that we have taken takes into account all of those factors and reflects the evidence as a whole.


Now, I'm going to provide you with a summary of our recommendations on the key issues and then go into them in some detail to provide you with our rationale for them.


Firstly, our recommendation is that to ensure consistent treatment of customers across all gas utility franchises in Ontario, in‑franchise and ex‑franchise should be replaced by core and non‑core classification, and a process of election should replace location within a franchise area as the means of determining the price regime for storage services.


Core customers would receive services from the gas utility at regulated rates.  These customers would include all end-use customers in the Province of Ontario that take bundled or unbundled regulated services from the gas utilities, including customers within the City of Kingston and Enbridge's franchise area.


Non‑core customers would include customers who have opted out of the regulated rate protection and take the total risk of their total portfolio management, including storage.  Non‑core customers would also include marketers and out-of-province LDCs.


And I pause for a moment.  Throughout this argument, I am going to try to use “core” and “non‑core” in the appropriate sense at the appropriate time, and I will use “ex‑franchise” and “in‑franchise” when I'm talking about the current status.


Although it's done perfectly in the argument, given the fact that I am going back and forth from the text, I may not do it so perfectly orally, but it will be done perfectly in the written copy that's handed in to you, so I apologize if I confuse you at any point.  I will try to keep it clear.


Now, moving from the brief classification I was just discussing, subject to certain conditions, storage services provided to non‑core ex‑franchise customers should be provided at market prices, as there is sufficient evidence for the Panel to find that a competitive market exists sufficient to protect the public interest and to forbear regulating the sale of storage to non‑core ex‑franchise customers in Ontario.


The result of this forbearance of the ex‑franchise non‑core market -- as a result, rather, of the complete forbearance that I've just referred to, the Board hearing team believes that the rates should be adjusted, subject to certain conditions, to exclude all storage costs and revenues associated with non‑core ex‑franchise storage sales from the determination of the 2007 rates and that storage-related deferral accounts should be eliminated.


To encourage third party storage developers to enter into the Ontario market, the Board hearing team agrees that the storage allocation for core in‑franchise customers for both Union and Enbridge should be frozen as of January 1st, 2007.


Storage services provided to core in‑franchise customers should remain at regulated rates, as it is the Board hearing team's position that there is not sufficient evidence for the Panel to find a competitive market exists sufficient to protect that particular sector and the public interest engaged by the in-franchise core customers.  

     Now, to ensure competitive storage market in Ontario, the Board hearing team is recommending that the Board implement a number of conditions to create a level playing field for the market participants, to protect the public interest and to promote market transparency.  

     Prior to the full implementation of these conditions, the Board hearing team recommends that Union continues to charge market-based rates for storage services to non-core customers.  


And finally, before I get into a detailed examination, I acknowledge that some of the recommendations that are made by the Board hearing team may require significant changes and implementation may require a period of time.  

     Now, moving just back briefly, you will recall a significant time was spent on the analytical framework.  Again, this has to be kept in mind.  The Panel will recall there was extensive evidence given concerning the framework that's to be applied when evaluating whether the natural gas market is, in fact, competitive.  

     The Board hearing team filed a brief - and that was Exhibit J1.2 - which contains the Canadian and the American framework, and tab 1 of that brief contains the merger enforcement guidelines which was – sorry, issued by the Competition Bureau of Canada, which was termed the MEGS, and tab 2 holds the FERC equivalent, which was referred to as the 1996 policy statement, and it was common ground between all of the parties that the anti-trust principles and framework reflected in those documents were similar and, to a large degree, interchangeable.  

The application of the framework in the Canadian context is reflected in the CRTC series of cases referred to in the report filed by Enbridge's expert on that area, View Communications Inc., and the application of the framework in the American context is reflected in a number of FERC cases that were filed; notably, Red Lake and Northwest Natural Gas Company.  Those cases are found at tabs 3, 4 and 5 on the Board hearing team's brief of documents.  

     Just to refresh your recollection, because it's been at least three or four weeks since this has been pounded home to you, the steps to be taken in the analysis are the definition of the product, and of specific importance in this case and something that will be returned to a fair number of times by me, the identification of product alternatives, which provide customers of the product being sold, and in this case we agreed physical gas storage is the product -- with a choice of other products comparable in price availability and quality.  

     The definition of the geographic market, the boundaries of which are set by the existence of the product alternatives and their sellers, a calculation of market share and market concentration of the seller of the product and all those who sell alternatives.  And I simply note that in Canada the emphasis is on market share, which is the forefront concentration number.  In the States, the emphasis was what was called the HHI.  And I will slaughter the names if I try to remember them, so I will just leave it as HHI.  

     Now, the market share and market concentration is not definitive.  Other factors are to be considered before finding market power is made, and those other factors that are to be examined include the extent to which foreign products or competitors provide or are likely to provide sufficient competition, whether acceptable substitutes are likely to be available, the existence of any barriers of entry into the market, and any other factor relevant to competition, such as vertical market power issues.  

     Now, one of the things that was discussed and I will land on very briefly here was the issue of onus.  You may recall there was some toing and froing on who bears the onus.  And I thought before I enter into a discussion of the evidence and what I recommend, I would address the issue of onus.  


The utilities are asking for complete forbearance in the ex-franchise non-core market.  And one of the things they rely upon is the fact that since 1989, this Board has permitted market-based rates in certain cases.  And it's the utility's position that as market-based rates have been previously applied, those will both -- forbearance actually bear the onus.  

It's our position that if you read section 29(1) and you consider what it is the utilities are asking for, which is complete forbearance, they are in fact seeking, in our view, a change in status.  And they are seeking -- and the reason for the change in status, I'm going to go into that in very slight detail -- they are seeking forbearance for the entire ex-franchise market, which is not something that exists right now.  

     Also, anti-trust legislation typically puts the onus on the proponent of the forbearance.  And I point out that the issue has never been ruled upon by the Board, not the specific issue of forbearance and what is necessary.  

     So the changes in the status quo that are being sought by the utilities are they are seeking market prices, not market-based rates.  They are seeking it for the entire market and for everything that relates to ex-franchise services, not just single aspects of the market.  In other words, complete forbearance.  

Specifically with regard to the premium -- you will recall there's a premium split 75/25.  What they want is all of the premium goes to the shareholders.  And they wish that to occur with regard to both transactional services and long-term.  They're also seeking the closing of several deferral accounts.  

Again, that is a change in the status quo.  And I remarked at the beginning that there has never been a consideration of whether or not competition sufficient to protect the public interest is, or does, or will exist. That has never been canvassed by this Board.  


In the Union's rate case RP 2001-0029, Union agreed with IGUA that the rates case was not the appropriate place to debate the competitiveness of the storage market.  And the panel agreed with that position and said:  

“While the Board believes that an extensive review of the state of competitiveness in the market for storage services in Ontario would be of significant value in any determination to refrain under section 29(1) of the Act, the Board accept the view that the current proceeding would not have been the appropriate forum in which to engage in such a debate.”  

     Obviously this is the place where the debate becomes engaged in, and this is the place where the status quo, if it is to be altered, is to be altered.  

     Now, the fact that this is the Board's own motion, I don't think affects the onus issue.  When there's a prudence review under section 36(7), which is the section that says:

“If a Board on its own motion commences a proceeding to determine if any of the rates for the sale, transmission, distribution or storage of gas by any gas transmitter, gas distributor or storage company are just and reasonable, the Board may make any order and the burden of establishing that the rates are just and reasonable is on the gas transmitter, gas distributor, or storage company.  

     So for all of those reasons, it is the Board hearing team's position that the onus actually rests upon the proponents.  And after having said all of that, it's the Board hearing team's position that the utilities have met that onus with regard to the ex-franchise non-core market and that they have provided evidence sufficient for forbearance to occur in that market.  

     I am now going to proceed with a discussion of the -- of why we came to that conclusion.  

     Now, as I stated at the outset, the focus of this hearing was whether or not the primary and the secondary markets provided product alternatives to the gas storage products offered by Union and Enbridge within the geographic market, sufficient that the Board should forbear in whole or in part from regulating the gas storage market in Ontario.  

     When we evaluated this evidence and looked at it concerning the product market -- product alternatives in the market, it was our opinion that a key element of the analytical framework was buyer behaviour.  And on this issue, the MEGS provided clear direction that buyer's behaviour should be considered when defining the product market, whether or not reliable statistical evidence on demand electricity elasticities are available.  Indirect evidence of substitutability including evidence from market participants and the views strategies and behaviours of buyers in the past should also be considered.  That is a paraphrase from the MEGS.  


Now, what I would like to do is discuss market power issues as it relates to the ex-franchise non-core customers.  

     I’ll start off by making reference to the Competition Bureau.  The competition Bureau believes that products can be viewed as product alternatives when buyers purchase these products in the marketplace, and in this hearing the evidence regarding buyer behaviour was a central concern.  In an exchange with the Board's support team counsel, the expert for the Board hearing team stated that to alleviate her concerns with regard to the secondary market, there needed to be sufficient evidence that Ontario storage users used the secondary market to find alternatives to Ontario's storage.  The Board hearing team is of the view that such evidence is also required with regard to the primary market.


And in the opinion of the Board hearing team, there was sufficient evidence in the non‑core ex‑franchise market to demonstrate that these buyers considered product alternatives to be available to them in and outside Ontario and in both the primary and secondary markets.  


Now, the gas utilities and Market Hub Partners in their respective arguments have provided an extensive overview of the evidence filed on this point, and it's not our intention to do the same.  But what we are going to do in the next few minutes is focus upon the evidence concerning buyers' behaviour that caused the Board hearing team, firstly, to accept that product alternatives exist and are purchased in the primary, secondary markets; and, secondly, to conclude that the Board should forbear from regulating all aspects of the sale of natural gas storage in the non‑core ex‑franchise market.  


Now, with regard to the products available, product alternatives available outside of Ontario, there was evidence that the gas utilities and marketers purchased storage in New York and in Michigan and that at least one the marketers had firm transportation on Vector to move gas from Michigan to Dawn.  This point was expanded upon in Union's argument, where there was evidence that the natural gas marketers hold significant amounts of natural gas pipeline and storage capacity.  The evidence was clear that Michigan storage and, to a lesser extent, that of New York is viewed by current ex‑franchise customers as an attractive, available, accessible alternative to Ontario's storage.


Now, moving to the evidence concerning the intersection between primary and secondary markets, there were two key fact witnesses.  Gaz Métro, or GMI, which is currently the largest ex‑franchise customer of Union, it provided a buyer's perspective.  BP Canada provided both a buyer and a seller's perspective.


There was direct evidence from GMI concerning its ongoing use of the primary and secondary markets to secure competitive prices with its preferred supplier, Union, vocal and vehement supporters of market rate specifically and competition generally.

GMI's witnesses gave the following evidence:  GMI tests the primary and secondary markets each and every time it negotiates with Union by looking at alternatives in the market, and what Union provides is, in their words, competitive with those alternatives.  While there are, quotation marks, "not a whole group of alternatives", end of quotation marks, there are alternatives, and it takes more than one phone call to canvass all of those alternatives.


The secondary market alternatives are provided by marketers, such as BP, Nexen and Coral.  In the words of one of those witnesses, the price they provide is fairly reliable, and, during negotiations, GMI has asked marketers to commit to a price for several weeks, which they've done.


If GMI couldn't purchase Union storage in the primary market, it would, in Ms. Brochu's words, fall back on a whole melting pot of solutions, which would include exchanges at Dawn, transportation, and probably some Michigan-based options through a third party that would have transportation on Vector.


It was GMI's experience and evidence that the secondary market can supply what a buyer wants.  Citing Ms. Brochu again in response to a question by Mr. Kaiser, quotation marks:

 "There are many people with capacities on Vector right now who are interested in marketing a product.  If you ask for a certain type of delivery service over a certain period of time, you will find people interested in doing that, and that's how we benchmark our friends at Union."


End of quotation marks.  

The secondary market is not necessarily more expensive than the primary.  Using a marketer who provides services out of a portfolio of assets, which may include delivery from Michigan, for example, will not necessarily result in the passing-along to the consumer of all those costs, and that's because the delivery service contracted for by one buyer may be a small part of a greater transaction; thus, lowering the costs for that buyer.


The secondary market has grown and evolved.  GMI gave evidence on the growth of the secondary market from the time they first used a marketer in 1994 to the present date.  A summary of that evidence was the market has more sellers, there are more markets to buy, and the products are more sophisticated.


The markets provide the discipline that keeps the ceiling on prices, at least in the eyes of Ms. Brochu.  GMI gave evidence that there was a price ceiling beyond which it would not go, and in response to questions posed by Mr. Thompson, Ms. Brochu stated:  

"The ceiling that Union can charge to a long-term customer for storage is the transportation costs.  The date the storage costs goes beyond transportation storage costs, we move the gas from the west and we will sell capacity in the summer, and that has a price, but that will be, to me, the ceiling of what Union can push the envelope to."


Now, from the evidence that I have canvassed - and I have only canvassed certain parts of it that were given by GMI - it's clear that GMI looks at a number of alternatives in both the primary and secondary market as a key part of its business strategy when dealing with Union, either when it's negotiating a price or when it is determining whether or not to accept a price.  It is buyer behaviour that is predicated on the existence of viable alternatives that provide choice.


Moving to BP.  BP provided evidence concerning the products offered by marketers and its use of the primary and the secondary markets to acquire assets and provide buyers with products.  The key points, at least in our view at this point in time, BP holds transportation and storage accounts in its own name and under management for third parties in both Michigan and Ontario.  BP has successfully bought and sold those services.  They buy and sell gas along Vector, Great Lakes, CNR, Union, and TCPL systems to create opportunities.


BP has pipeline capacity in and out of Dawn and buys and sells gas at Dawn to meet their obligations.  BP is a major player at Dawn in the origination or marketing business where they sell to industrial end users and LDCs.  Top competitors are Coral, Nexen, ConocoPhilips, and Seminole.


 Marketers such as BP offer commodity sales of natural gas; that's base load, spot, or peaking.  They offer financial services.  They offer transportation services, such as swaps, exchanges between two points.  They offer parts and loans, which are short-term lending or borrowing of gas to balance daily accounts, and delivery and redelivery services.


BP offers the delivery/redelivery service that Mr. Acker said believes -- Mr. Acker believes displaces a firm physical storage contract with Union by using its own assets, pipeline capacity in and out of Dawn, and out of jurisdiction storage.  BP states that to an end user the substitution of BP's product for storage makes no discernible difference.  


Mr. Acker also gave evidence that all prices in the secondary market are negotiable, and he also provided an opinion that the secondary market is competitive and relatively liquid.  

In support of that opinion, he told the Panel that BP had been beaten on a number of occasions by other buyers and sellers of services in the secondary market, yet at other times it enjoyed considerable success.


Finally, he also advised there were alternatives to Union's storage at better prices.  He told the Panel that BP had bid unsuccessfully several times in the recent past in Union open seasons for storage service at Dawn.  BP was able to acquire service that provided almost identical capability at a lower price.


When the evidence of GMI and BP are considered in conjunction with the evidence filed by Union and Enbridge concerning the use of Michigan and New York storage, it is clear that sufficient evidence exists of buyers seeking and finding alternatives to Union storage outside of Ontario in both the primary and secondary markets and that a finding of competition sufficient to protect the public interest can be made with regard to the non‑core ex‑franchise market.


Now I would like to discuss the implications of the evidence and the finding that I have just recommended to you.


Because, on our reading of the evidence, there is a conclusion that the non‑core ex‑franchise market is competitive to protect ‑‑ competitive sufficient to protect the public interest and that the Board should forbear from the regulation of natural gas storage in the market, it is the Board hearing team's position that any premiums or shortfalls in excess of or under costs should accrue to the shareholder with regard to storage transactions.  


I just mangled that, so I made it incomprehensible, so I'm going to try it one more time.


Since gas utilities and shareholders will bear the risk associated with storage transactions in the non-core ex-franchise market, it is the Board hearing team's position that any premiums or shortfalls in excess of or under costs should accrue to the shareholder.  This will help move the market towards a level playing field by eliminating cross-subsidization between core and non-core in- and ex-franchise markets.  


Accordingly, the Board hearing team recommends that the Board should allow Union and Enbridge to, firstly, adjust rates effective January 1st, 2007 to exclude all storage costs, revenues, and rate base when applicable associated with non-core ex-franchise storage sales from the determination of the 2007 rates; secondly, to eliminate any storage-related deferral accounts.  

     In order to prospectively implement forbearance related to the ex-franchise market, Union proposes to fix the allocation of storage capacity allocated to in-franchise customers effective January 1st, 2007.  New storage capacity required for their ex-franchise market will be developed or acquired outside of regulation.  

     Similarly, since Enbridge currently has one ex-franchise customer, its proposal also amounts to freezing the allocation of in-franchise customers effective January 1st, 2007.  

     Enbridge also proposed that the regulated rolled-in storage rate include the price of standard storage services developed or procured from third party service providers to meet the needs of existing and new in-franchise customers.   

     The Board hearing team supports both Union and Enbridge's proposal since the proposals will promote storage development and provide third party storage developers the opportunity to compete to serve the incremental needs of core, non-core, in- and ex-franchise customers.  

     Furthermore, a claw-back of the capacity presently available to the non-core ex-franchise market would be counter to the development of new product alternatives or core in-franchise customers.  

     On the cost allocation, Union argues there is no need for another proceeding to determine the allocation of costs and revenues associated with ex-franchise storage sales on the ground that Union has been allocating storage costs between in and ex-franchise customers for quite some time.   Enbridge proposes that the costs and revenue forecast be dealt with in its next rate case.  

     The Board hearing team believes that under forbearance scenario, it is paramount that the allocation of revenues and costs relating to non-core ex-franchise storage sales be examined to ensure that there is no cross-subsidization between regulated and non-regulated storage services.  If the Board orders forbearance in the non-core ex-franchise market, there will be no further opportunity to review the cost-allocation methodologies, and thus it's the Board hearing team's position and recommendation that such an examination should occur in a generic review.  

     Now I would like to deal briefly with transactional storage services.  

     The objective of transactional storage services is to make additional use in off-peak periods of physical and contractual storage and transportation assets acquired primarily to serve in-franchise customers.  When transactional services’ net revenues were originally fully credited to the ratepayers – sorry, while transactional services’ net revenues were originally fully credited to the ratepayers, the proceeds are presently shared between ratepayers and shareholders.  

     Enbridge and Union are seeking approval from this Board to forbear from regulating transactional storage services.  The rationale advanced by the utilities is that these services are provided to ex-franchise customers in a competitive marketplace and that the current sharing mechanism effectively charges in-franchise customers less than the cost-based rates for storage services, thereby hindering the development of new storage in Ontario.  

     It is the position of Enbridge and Union that the current sharing mechanism should end.  And I'm now quoting:

“All revenues, relevant costs, net income and risks associated with this activity should be excluded from the Board's rate making process.  This proposal would eliminate the forecast of the transactional storage services margin currently embedded in delivery rates and discontinue the sharing of any deferred storage transactional services margin captured in the utilities’ respective variance accounts."

     As previously indicated, the Board hearing team has concluded that the market for the core ex-franchise storage sales is workably competitive; that would include both short-term and long-term storage services provided to non-core and ex-franchise customers.  Consequently, the forecast margin associated with the additional use of the physical and contractual assets which are currently "reserved" for core and in-franchise customers should no longer accrue to the ratepayers, and storage transactional services deferral accounts should be eliminated.  

     While the Board hearing team agrees that the physical and contractual storage assets were acquired to meet the needs of bundled core in-franchise customers, the Board hearing team is of the position that the bundled core in-franchise customers are not entitled to these assets per se.  Rather, these customers receive storage services from the utilities contracting or developing and operating storage facilities to meet their storage requirements based on the excess overaverage storage allocation methodology.  

     In addition, the recovery of fixed storage costs for most bundled service customers is currently done through variable storage or delivery charges; in other words, most core and in-franchise customers -- most core and in-franchise bundled service customers pay for storage services rendered on their usage.  

     Now I would like to discuss the elimination of the transportation service deferral accounts.  Union is proposing the elimination of its transactional transportation deferral accounts and the numbers of 179-69, -73 and -74 effective January 1st, 2007.  

     The rationale advanced by Union is that there's no need to treat these revenues any differently than any other revenues.  The revenue derived from these services can be forecast as accurately as any other revenue, and the elimination of these deferral accounts is consistent with the Board's policy direction as outlined in the Board's Natural Gas Forum Report dated March 30th, 2005.  

     The Board hearing team agrees with Union's proposal since transactional transportation services are part of the gas utilities' monopoly service.  The Board hearing team concludes that the transactional transportation services revenue should not be treated any differently from a rate-making perspective than any other regulated revenue.  Under the current regulatory regime, forecast revenue acts as an offset to the revenue requirement and there are no variance accounts to capture variances relative to forecast.  The utilities thus bear the risk of any underearnings and can reap the benefits of any overearnings.  

This treatment would also be consistent with the Board's view, which was expressed March 30th, 2005, in its NGF report that an appropriate balance of risk and reward in an IR framework will result in reduced reliance on deferral or variance accounts.  

     I would now like to discuss the in-franchise customers, or what I will try to refer to as the core.  

     Now, as we've stated previously, it is the Board hearing team's position that storage services provided to core in-franchise customers should remain at regulated rates and should continue to be regulated by the Board, as there is not sufficient evidence for the panel to find that a competitive market exists sufficient to protect the public interest.  

     In contrast to the gas commodity market, where the end-use customers have different suppliers to choose from, gas utility or gas marketers, customer choice does not exist for the end-use customer in the storage market.  As Mr. Grant put it in his evidence, there aren't a lot of people banging on peoples’ doors in the residences making a lot of storage offerings at the burner tip.  


The Board hearing team believes that customer choice is an essential component of a competitive market.  

     In arriving at this position, we analysed the documentary and oral evidence, and as with the non-core ex-franchise market, we looked at the evidence concerning buyer behaviour and looked for the existence of a workably competitive market.  

     And I'm about to go through that evidence with you.  Before I do so, I note that current in-franchise storage requirements represent 83 Bcf, or 55 percent of Union's total storage requirements, and virtually all of Enbridge's storage capacity.  

     Starting with the utilities.  Union gave evidence that as of the date of the hearing, in-franchise customers could choose from bundled, semibundled, or unbundled delivery service options.  Most end-use customers have elected bundled or semi-bundled services; although unbundled services have been available to contract customers since 2001 and retail customers since 2003, most have chosen to bundle their storage services with distribution and transmission services.


Mr. Baker gave evidence at the hearing that it was Union's position that -- and I'm quoting Mr. Baker at this point:  

"The in‑franchise market is at this point in time not workably competitive due to the in‑franchise customers predominantly exercising their choice to elect a bundled gas delivery service option whereby storage is bundled with monopoly distribution and transmission services."

     Enbridge gave similar evidence concerning the preferences exhibited by its core in‑franchise customers.  Only one customer has chosen to unbundle storage.  All the rest have chosen to bundle.


The lack of evidence of product alternatives of the in‑franchise market was discussed in Enbridge's cross‑examination.  Mr. Grant stated that Enbridge would seek market prices for in‑franchise customers when a ‑‑ sorry, in a situation where we had unbundled rates for some period of time, that there was a lot of choice that people were making in the market to go from bundled to unbundled, where we saw a clear drive on the part of the end-use customers towards a fully competitive market at the burner tip.


It is clear, from the evidence and from the evidence given by Union and Enbridge, that this is not the current market.  

Repeating Mr. Grant's words again:  

"There aren't a lot of people banging on people's doors in the residences making a lot of storage offerings at the burner tip."


The expert for Enbridge on gas storage, Richard Smead, agreed that storage services at the burner tip offered by the incumbent distributors in the geographic market do not constitute a workably competitive market.


Additional evidence on this point is found in the identity of the Canadian customers with storage contracts in Michigan and in New York.  Given that the majority of end-use customers in Ontario have chosen the bundled service option, it is not surprising that the evidence revealed the Canadian customers with storage contracts in Michigan and New York are exclusively Ontario gas utilities and marketers.  


This evidence confirms that no core in‑franchise customers are using these primary market product alternatives in Michigan and/or New York as a substitute for Union or Enbridge storage.


Finally, the evidence concerning buyer behaviour in the secondary market, buyer behaviour of core and in‑franchise customers, was supplied by Mr. Acker of BP.  As you will recall, the majority of BP's business in Ontario is the sale of the natural gas commodity and that BP also sells a delivery/redelivery service, which is considered to be a product alternative to storage.  

Mr. Acker said, and I am quoting:   

"I have never been approached nor have I found any in‑franchise end-use customer who is interested in purchasing storage services from the secondary market."


As Mr. Reed agreed - and that is MHP's expert - a storage substitute is only a substitute if customers perceive it to be a substitute.  


Based on that evidence, the Board hearing team concludes that there is no evidence that the primary and/or secondary markets provide end-use customers with competitive storage alternatives in the marketplace.  And that, of course, is core and in‑franchise customers.  The only evidence of parties purchasing product alternatives in the primary and secondary market that was put before you are gas utilities and marketers. 


The Board hearing team, as a result, is supporting the position taken by Enbridge and Union in their filed and oral evidence that there is a lack of competitive storage offerings for core in‑franchise customers, and, as a result, this market is not workably competitive.


I would like to now talk about, briefly, the implications of that, taking that position on our recommendation to you.


Union proposed that any incremental in‑franchise storage service requirements, beyond those identified for the purpose of determining 2007 cost-of-service rates based on the aggregate cost methodology, aggregate excess methodology, be met through Union acquiring incremental assets or services at market prices. 


To the extent that additional storage space is required, the cost of storage for all in‑franchise customers will be a blend of cost‑based and market prices leading ‑‑ market prices leading, perhaps, to a more efficient use of storage by those customers.


Similarly, Enbridge proposed that the regulated storage rate be rolled in and included the price of standard storage services developed or procured from third parties' service providers to meet the needs of existing and new in‑franchise customers.


The Board hearing team supports the gas utility's proposal.  This means that base deliverability storage - i.e., 1.2 percent, ratcheted - would be provided at regulated rates for all core in‑franchise customers.  Storage requirements in excess of the aggregate excess base allocation methodology and/or 1.2 percent deliverability would be provided at market prices on a user-pay basis.


Union stated that it would purchase additional in‑franchise requirements in the marketplace through a request for proposal process, rather than developing its own storage or clawing back its ex‑franchise contracts.  Enbridge has stated it will either procure storage capacity through a market tender or develop its own storage space.


Both Union and Enbridge recognize that the Board should take an active role in reviewing these processes.  The Board hearing team agrees that the Board should conduct a prudence review for gas utilities purchasing or developing regulated storage services to ensure that the outcome is fair and reasonable.  The prudence review could either be a preapproval or it could occur after the fact, and the Board hearing teams believes that a review after the fact would in all likelihood likely suffice.  


The Board could also establish a blanket approval process for storage services under a specific threshold, in terms of capacity, length, and/or contract value.


With respect to the rate-making implications of forbearance in the non‑core ex‑franchise market, Union estimated, in its final submission in the NGF Forum, that the move to market‑based prices for in- and ex‑franchise storage sales would cost a typical resident customer less than $15 per year.  Since this figure represents the rate-making implications for all storage sales and given that the ex‑franchise market accounts for 45 percent of Union's market, it would appear that a phase‑in period is not warranted.


Now I would like to go to the reclassification of customers, the core and non‑core.  In its RP-1999‑0017 decision with reasons, the Board allowed Union to renew storage contracts originally at cost‑based rates, at market rates.  As a consequence, gas customers in Kingston are now paying market rates for storage and customers in Union's areas are the substantial beneficiaries of this policy.


While Enbridge's existing storage contract with Union is based on cost-of-service rates, a new contract effective in 2006 charges market‑based rates for this storage.  While these measures were, in part, implemented to encourage storage development, the Board in its NGF report of March 30th, 2005 went on to say -- and I'm quoting:

"There is an issue as to whether the current pricing structure for storage is inappropriately discriminatory." 


And that's end of quotation marks.  

The Board is concerned that ‑‑ the Board hearing team, rather -- I don't know if you share our concerns, but the Board hearing team is concerned that under the current policy a residential customer located in Union's franchise area pays a subsidized regulated rate for storage, while a residential customer located in Kingston will be subject to market‑based rates for the same service.  Similarly, a residential customer in Enbridge's franchise area will pay a blend of market‑based and cost‑based rates.  

As a matter of principle ‑‑ as a matter of principle and policy, the Board hearing team is of the view that location within the province should not dictate the pricing regime under which customers will be charged for storage services.  Rather, end users within the province should be subject to the same pricing regime.  Price differentiation should be driven by consumers' load profile and characteristics and the utilities' specific costs.  

In order to remedy this issue, the Board hearing team recommends the customers be split into two groups, the core and non‑core customers.  This classification would replace the current in- and ex‑franchise customer classification.  Core customers would receive services from the gas utility at regulated rates.  These customers would include all end-use customers in the Province of Ontario that take bundled or unbundled regulated services from the gas utilities, including the customers within the City of Kingston and Enbridge's franchise area.  

     Non-core customers would include customers that have opted out of the regulated rate protection and take the total risk of their total profile management, including storage.  Non-core customers would also include marketers and out-of-province LDCs.  

     It's the Board hearing team's belief that this separation would ensure a consistent treatment of customers across all gas utility franchises in Ontario.  

     Now, what are the implications of the re-classification?  End-use customers located in the City of Kingston would be charged cost-based rates for their storage capacity requirements as of January 1st, 2007, as determined by the aggregate excess methodology.  Similarly, the existing storage contracts between Union and Enbridge would be renewed under cost-based rates, and that capacity would continue to be priced under cost-based rates until the market for core in-franchise storage is deemed to be workably competitive in Ontario.  The same would apply to the contract between Union and the Kingston Public Utilities Commission.  Additional storage requirements for core in-franchise customers post January 1st, 2007 would be sold at a blend of cost-based and market prices.  

     Now, I alluded in the beginning of my argument to you that there were certain conditions that we thought should be in place before forbearance in whole, with regard to the core ex-franchise market, is permitted by the Board.  I would now like to review with you those conditions of forbearance.  

     To ensure a vibrant competitive storage market in 

Ontario, the Board should be governed by the following 

Principles.  And I've given you a lot of principles today.  Can I just add these to the general list I've already added.  Here are four more:  Create a level playing field for market participants; adopt roles and practices to govern affiliate behaviour to protect the public interest; support open and non-discriminatory access to transmission; and establish a transparent storage transmission market so market participants can make informed decisions.  

     The application of these principles will enhance the storage market for all market participants by removing market barriers to encourage new entrants into the Ontario storage market and create an environment which will encourage, hopefully, end-use customers to purchase unbundled storage and ultimately enter into the marketplace for storage services.  

     The Board hearing team believes that the creation of a level playing field, ensuring non-discriminatory access to transmission, and establishing a transparent storage transmission market should be achieved before the Board forbears from storage of regulation in the non-core ex-franchise market.  

     To achieve those goals, the Board hearing team recommends that the Board implement certain conditions, which I am going to discuss very shortly.  

     Now, concerning the creation of the level playing field.  In its final submission to the Natural Gas Forum, the Competition Bureau made the following statement:   

“Removal of the ability and incentive to use access to monopoly functions to harm competition in competitive markets is most clearly achieved by structurally separating monopoly functions from competitive ones.  However, where there are substantial costs associated with such separation, alternative measures may be considered, such as enforceable Chinese walls, ring fencing and codes of conduct.  

     The Board indicated in its NGF report of March 30th, 2005 -- and I am now reading:   

"Utility control of most of the key infrastructures surrounding the Dawn hub and the lack of transparency in gas transportation system operations' function raised the question of whether the system's operations function of Union is non-discriminatory or whether unbundling these operations from the utility would be desirable.” 

     That, as I said, is from your own report at page 49. 

Union owns both gas storage and transmission.  This integrated structure creates an opportunity for the storage and transmission service provider to slow down the process of providing a new storage provider and interconnection and, thus, the ability to reach its customers in a timely fashion.  But it also allows Union access to customer and market information that is not available to other market participants, information that can be used to enhance its position in the market.  

     Under Union and Enbridge's proposals, both the regulated and competitive storage operations would reside together within the utility.  This type of structure could lead to cross-subsidization between regulated and non-regulated services, and, again, it allows the gas utilities to have access to privileged customer information that is not available to other market participants.  


As I've stated previously, the Board hearing team believes it's essential to create a level playing field for competition, particularly if the Board decides to forbear from rate regulating approximately half of Union's storage capacity.  

To achieve that goal, that goal of a level playing field, the Board hearing team recommends that the transmission facilities owned by Union should be functionally separated from its storage operations.     

Union and Enbridge should also separate their regulated and competitive storage services.  Both of these separations would protect access to privileged customer information and minimize the potential for cross-subsidization between regulated and non-regulated functions.  

     This, in turn, would also ensure the continued development of a competitive storage market and provide encouragement to third party entrants.  

     In its argument, Union indicated there is no evidence that there have been any problems with respect to the integrated nature of Union's storage, transmission and distribution business to date.  And the Board points out that currently, other than Enbridge, there are no independent storage providers currently operating connected to Union's transmission system.  And so it's not surprising there haven't been any issues reported to date.  In addition, Union and Enbridge are the only storage providers in Ontario.  

     Union also stated that the cost of functionally separating storage from transmission and distribution would be significant and that the benefits are not known.  And they said there were other ways of addressing those concerns, such as codes of conduct, oversights, and complaints mechanisms.  

     While the Board hearing team acknowledges that the costs and benefits of a functional separation are difficult to quantify, it's the Board hearing team's position that the Board should be guided by the concerns and the principles that I quoted to you when I read from both your report in the submission of the Bureau of Competition's paper that they submitted also.  These principles are also the foundation of the Board's affiliated relationship codes for gas utilities.    

     As the Competition Bureau recognizes, the most effective safeguard to anti-competitive activity is to separate competitive and monopoly services.  The separations would establish market access that allows all existing and potential competitors to succeed or fail based upon their ability to provide products that meet customer tastes and needs at the lowest cost.  

     Union has suggested that these concerns can be addressed through voluntary codes of conduct which rely upon internal policing to ensure compliance.  It's the Board hearing team's position that compliance can only be ensured through a mandatory and enforceable rule, such as amendments to The Affiliated Relationship Code.  

     As a result, the Board hearing team believes that the best course of action is for the Board to order the functional separation of Union's transmission system from its storage operations and the functional separation of the regulated and competitive storage services for both gas utilities.  

     I would now like to discuss the roles and practices to govern affiliate behaviour.  

     The principal objectives of the Board's ARC are to enhance a competitive market while at a minimum keeping ratepayers unharmed by the actions of gas distributors, transmitters, and storage companies with respect to dealing with affiliates.  

     The current ARC focuses on gas utilities and their affiliated energy service provider, which in turn is defined as "a person other than a utility involved in the supply of electricity or gas or related activities, including retailing of electricity, marketing, and natural gas and energy management services."

     The Board hearing team believes that the ARC should be 

amended to reflect the evolving competitive environment and its many market participants.  Therefore, the Board hearing team recommends that the scope of the ARC be expanded to address the functional separation of regulated and unregulated storage activities for both Union and Enbridge, the functional separation of Union's transmission and storage activities, and the interaction between incumbent gas utilities and their affiliate storage providers.


These recommendations would ensure that the amended ARC would minimize the potential of cross-subsidization between regulated and competitive services within a utility, prevent the exchanges of vital customer and market information between these broad and diverse groups, and ensure there is no preferential access to regulated utility services.


The Board hearing team recognizes that the proposed amendments to the ARC would be dealt with through the Board's notice and comment process, such that all interested stakeholders can participate.  

The Board hearing team is accordingly requesting from this Panel a directive to initiate such a review of the ARC.  In the course of that process, the Board hearing team recommends that the gas utilities submit an implementation plan that can include timing, the functions to be separated, and all of the necessary protocols between these functions for the Board's approval.


In addition, both the Board hearing team and MHP Canada agree that the Board should adopt a system whereby customers can register a complaint if they think they've been harmed by anti‑competitive behaviour.  For instance, if a potential storage developer encounters difficulty in accessing the transmission system, the Board could review the issue and determine if the customer was unduly discriminated by the transmission provider sufficient to block its competitive entry into the market.


I would now like to deal with open and non‑discriminatory access to transmission.  It is essential that the transmission services be provided on an open-access and non‑discriminatory basis to prevent any gaming of the gas infrastructure.  This means that the transmission provider - for example, Union - must accept requests for transmission services on the system in a non‑discriminatory manner, with no preference given to its energy affiliates.  

As the Commissioner of Competition stated in her filed submission at the Natural Gas Forum, the regime of non‑discriminatory access to essential facilities is essential.  


One way to demonstrate a non‑discriminatory ‑‑ sorry, one way to demonstrate non‑discriminatory access to new transmission capacity would be to hold a fair and transparent open season.  Typically, an open season includes fair notice and information on procedures for the allocation of capacity, anticipated constraints, if a constraint is expected, and the criteria for and timing of any open seasons.


The Board hearing team acknowledges that the settlement agreement of NGEIR Issue 3 between Union Gas and ‑‑ Union Gas and various intervenors as part of this proceeding, which requires all of the above information save for the provision of the criteria, on a going-forward basis, the Board hearing team suggests that the requirements of future open seasons include delisting criteria.


 The City of Kitchener suggests that the Board use its rule-making powers to develop and implement a storage and transportation access rule, which they called STAR, to remove the potential for anti‑competitive behaviour.


 Among other things, the STAR could contain the rules and information requirements for an open season in both transmission and storage services.  The Board hearing team supports the creation of STAR.


I would now like to deal with transparent storage, a transparent ‑‑ transparent storage and transmission market.  The competitiveness of the market would be facilitated by transparency of market information to all market participants.  It's essential, in the Board hearing team's opinion, that there is an ongoing transparency in the marketplace for both transmission and gas storage services.  This will allow market participants to have better information with which to make decisions on how to manage their gas portfolios.


Union has agreed to provide much of the information which will assist in creating transparency for market participants.  

You might recall that in the course of the hearing, Union gave an undertaking to review FERC Regulation 284, which outlines customer and system information which must be filed, and to advise whether Union would be prepared to file such information, if forbearance was granted.  


Union responded by way of answer to Undertaking K3.3 and indicated that if forbearance was granted, they were prepared to provide most of the information required by FERC.


The information to be posted on Union's web site would include an index of customers, and that index could include shipper, storage, customer information, contract number, contract effective date, determination date, and transportation/storage maximum daily quantity.


Union also indicated it would be prepared to file with the Board an annual filing of the estimate of peak day transportation storage capacity, and maximum daily delivery capability, and a semi-annual storage report providing information on storage and withdrawals for each customer.


In addition, the Board hearing team believes that all storage and transmission providers should be required to report the quantity and availability of storage, transmission capacity on the web site, or other publicly available forms on a timely basis.  

Currently Union indicates on its web site the overall systems status using a stoplight or a green light as a visual signal only.  However, it's the Board hearing team's opinion that capacity system information is necessary so market participants can make informed decisions regarding their gas portfolios.  This information will also eliminate uncertainty in the marketplace.


The Board hearing team agrees with Union and Enbridge, however, that they should not be required to post commercially sensitive information.


On a matter that's related to the education of the consumer and transparency of the information, the bills for Union's bundled service customers separately identified charges for distribution, transportation and storage services, Enbridge currently does not break these services out and show separate charges.


In order to promote price discovery and to assist in educating consumers about the products they purchase, the Board hearing team recommends that Enbridge be directed to educate customers about these separate charges.  This could be done, for example, through a breakdown of charges on the bill, through a mailing insert, or through a posting on the web site.


Finally, the Board hearing team recommends that the Board conduct a review five years after the implementation of market prices in the non‑core ex‑franchise storage market to ensure that the market is open and competitive and to assess whether new product alternatives have entered the Ontario market which are being accessed by end-use customers as a substitute for Union and Enbridge storage.


With regard to the timing of the implementation of the conditions, it is difficult to give a time line, given the Board hearing team's limited knowledge of the operational logistics involved.  The Board hearing team suggests that the utilities and other storage providers are best suited to provide a time estimate for implementation.


Prior to full implementation, the Board hearing team recommends that Union continues to charge market rates for storage services to non‑core customers.  Once the implementation is complete, the Board should forbear from rate-regulating storage sales to non‑core customers.


And now I would like to provide you with our position on the request for an expedited decision on behalf of MHP, and then I will provide a very brief summary.  

MHP has asked for an expedited decision on what it calls its core points, and the core points require the following findings from the Board:  MHP cannot exercise market power; MHP should be granted authority to charge market‑based rates for its services, as would any independent storage provider -– sorry, independent storage developer; and MHP should be allowed flexibility to contract for services without requiring approval of individual contracts, provided that MHP operates within a base set of service terms and conditions approved by the Board.  And you will recall that they have requested the decision by the end of August of this year, which is Thursday.


With regard to the core points, MHP takes the position it is a new market entrant and, but for its status as an affiliate, no application for market‑based rates would be necessary; and, similarly, but for its position as an affiliate of Union, there would be no question that it could not exercise market power.


While Mr. Smith in his written argument urged the Panel to view MHP as if it was not an affiliate of Union, it is the Board hearing team's position that MHP status as an affiliate colours any resolution of the core points and the request for an expedited decision.  

     Put simply, it's the Board hearing team's position that it is not possible for a decision to be made concerning MHP without regard to the fact that it is inextricably tied to Union and to what Mr. Redford    referred to as the "Duke family."  

The closeness of that relationship was illustrated in Mr. Moran's cross-examination of Mr. Redford, in which it was established that their individual service agreements through which Duke Energy affiliates, including Union, provide day-to-day operations support to MHP for matters such as legal services, human resource services, and shared core corporate services along with agreements for storage and transportation operations.  

     The Board hearing team also points out that generally anti-trust authorities regard affiliated companies as one company for the purpose of competition analysis.  

As Mr. Reed, the expert for Enbridge, stated, for the purposes of market concentration analyses, affiliates are included in calculating market shares and levels of competition.  

     It is the position of the Board hearing team that because of MHP's status as an affiliate of Union, a decision on the core points is, in effect, a decision on the merits of Union's position and it is for that reason that the Board hearing team takes the position that an expedited decision is not appropriate.  

     Now I would like to conclude and provide a very, very brief précis of the position of the Board hearing team.     

     There were various questions that were posed in the first procedural order that came out, and we sometimes have - at least, I know I have - failed to look at those questions as frequently perhaps we should have.  And those questions had to do with the existence of market power and the provision of storage services, whether or not it was appropriate to charge market rates for transaction of long-term services, whether there should be a division between the customers on who should pay one rate and whether someone else should pay another.  And I am going to give you a précis that I believe answers those questions and sums up our position at the same time.  

     Firstly, we believe that there is no market power in the ex-franchise market.  We believe that the Board should forbear from regulating all services related to the ex-franchise market, which includes transactional services and long-term contracts, and any revenues associated with those services should be returned to the shareholder.  

     Rates should be adjusted to exclude all storage costs and revenues associated with the non-core ex-franchise storage sales from the determination of the 2007 rates.  The transactional transportation deferral accounts should be eliminated, and prior to forbearance, the Board should impose the conditions that I've just reviewed with you.  

     There is market power in the in-franchise market.  The Board should continue to regulate the in-franchise market, and storage provided to those customers should remain at regulated rates.  

The core in-franchise customers should receive the allocation of storage base as of January 1st, 2007 in accordance with the aggregate excess methodology, which methodology should be reviewed.  

Additional storage requirements for core customers post January 1st, 2007 would be sold at a blend of cost-based and market rates.  

Finally, there should be a reclassification of customers into core and non-core to ensure consistent treatment of customers across all gas utility franchises in Ontario.  

     Subject to any questions you may have, that's the position of the Board hearing team.  I note that it is quarter to 11:00, and I don't know whether you wish to take the morning break before you pose any questions.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Ms. Campbell.  One question.  Under your proposal, your methodology, Enbridge becomes a core customer.  Gaz Métro is a non-core customer.  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  Is it your position Enbridge doesn't have access to the same competitive alternatives as Gaz Métro?  

     MS. DUGUAY:  The manner in which we approached that was to look at storage services, and I guess the key question was:  Who is the customer of storage services?  And the way we looked at it, with regard to Enbridge and your specific example, that the customer is not the LDC in the in-franchise market but, rather, the consumer, meaning the end-use customer.  

     MR. KAISER:  No, I understood that.  But isn't it really the case that in both cases the end user is not buying the storage, whether that end user is in Quebec through Gaz Métro or whether he's in Ontario through Enbridge; the LDC is buying on behalf of the end user in both cases.  There is no difference, is there?  

     MS. DUGUAY:  I would agree with that.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  Just to follow up on this new allocation that you're proposing.  First of all, I think at the very end, Ms. Campbell, you said that the aggregate excess method should be reviewed.  Did I hear that right?  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I meant with respect to the ex-franchise.  I apologize.  We had talked about the fact that once you forbear in the ex-franchise, you forbear completely.  You can't go in and look at the cost-allocation methodology.  

     MR. RUPERT:  So I misheard that.  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  That was my -- that was my fault.  I apologize for confusing you.  I apologize.  

     MR. RUPERT:  So under your proposal - to go to the Enbridge question that was just asked - the amount of frozen space for your new core customer category on January 1st, 2007 would be the, roughly, 85 Bcf, whatever it is that Union has talked about, I think, plus some amount in respect of Enbridge and plus some amount in respect of Kingston, whatever that turns out to be.  

     MS. DUGUAY:  Yes, yes.  

     MR. RUPERT:  I think I can understand how you can do an aggregate excess calculation in Kingston.  I'm just not sure I understand immediately how you take Enbridge, which has its existing own facilities which are quite substantial and has purchased more from Union -- how would your aggregate excess calculation work in respect of Enbridge buying these services from Union for the core customers?  

     MS. DUGUAY:  In the case of Enbridge, I guess our argument was not clear on that particular point, but that would be based on the existing storage requirements underpinning their contract with Union.  Or the 20 Bcf or ...

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  So the amount that's -- so the amount that's under contract today would be frozen and there would be no further need to do a calculation after that, okay.  

     MS. DUGUAY:  That's correct, yes.  

     MR. RUPERT:  On the question of gas-fired generators  -- and I realize you were restricting your argument to issue 2, but I think these do connect somehow.  So a gas-fired generator, which is an in-franchise consumer, would, under your proposal, receive the same -- what allocation of, under aggregate excess, would they get an aggregate excess for gas-fired generators under your proposal as a core consumer?  

     MS. DUGUAY:  I do not have the settlement agreement with me, but I believe that there was a calculation to determine the space that would be allocated to power generators and that space at the minimum or the standard deliverability would be provided at cost.  

     MR. RUPERT:  So as I understand those calculations, those were not the same as an aggregate excess calculation.  I think each utility had a different calculation.  So your proposal is aggregate excess for core customers, except for the allocations that have been laid out in the settlement agreements that we talked about the last month?  

     MS. DUGUAY:  That's correct, Mr. Rupert.  Sorry for not making that distinction in the argument.  

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Two other details.  I think it was your team, in fact, during cross‑examination that had talked about -- had asked Enbridge about Gazifère.  Just so I'm clear, under your proposal, Gazifère would no longer be eligible for cost‑based storage?


MS. DUGUAY:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  And one of the discussions that happened during the oral hearing was about what happens to someone who gets cost‑based storage under the aggregate excess method, and they have a contract like these T1 customers do, and some of them have amounts under contract today, as we heard, that are in excess of the aggregate excess calculation.  And there's a method currently that's apparently laid out for how that would change.


Under your proposal for allocation to consumers, to the core consumers, what would you do to deal with changing circumstances of those customers in the future?


So if a customer has a certain need today which results in a certain calculation under the aggregate excess calculation, in five years things differ.  How does your proposal work?  Do you continually update these calculations, in your mind, every year, every five years?  Is there a trigger that allows the utility to change the allocation?


MS. DUGUAY:  That's a very interesting question, because our proposal for a "typical" customer would be that their storage space would be pinned to the excess over average allocation methodology.  

With regard to your specific example of a customer, a T1 customer, that would currently receive storage space in excess, if I understand you correctly, from this algorithm, it's a difficult question, because I don't understand why certain customers would receive an allocation of space based on an established formula that has been approved by this Board and, in reality, have received something in excess of that.


So I would suggest that in this particular example ‑ and I do not know the extent of those differences ‑ that once the contract comes up for renewal, it should be based on the excess over average space allocation methodology and everything over and above that would be provided at market‑based rates or market prices, depending what ‑‑ where we are, based on our proposal, in the regime for storage services.


MR. RUPERT:  That leads to, I think, my last question:  Under whatever allocation there is -- and I'm thinking now about the larger customers, the T1 customers and some other larger customers who may need more storage and are -- when we may be capped out by the aggregate excess method or by whatever allocation methodology is used.  They would go to the market, perhaps, but perhaps in many cases, more logically or more feasibly, they would go back to their utility and negotiate for additional storage.


Do you have any recommendations about the process that should be followed in that case where someone has received an allocation of storage, they want more, and they are negotiating with the Union or Enbridge for more?  Is there any special ‑‑ are there any special rules or procedures you would recommend for that core customer, as opposed to the marketer or out‑of‑province LDC that is negotiating with those same utilities?


MR. KAISER:  Well, you can think about this over the break, if you want.


MS. CAMPBELL:  We were just about to say that that's perhaps the thing to do, considering that Mr. Rupert has come up with something we hadn't turned our minds to.  

Perhaps what we can do is consider it over the break and if we have sufficient time to provide a position to you, we will do so.  If not, rather than hold the proceedings up, we will provide you with something in writing, but obviously it's preferable if everyone in the room knows what our position is as soon as possible.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Take the morning break at this point and come back at ‑‑ in 15 minutes.  Thank you.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.
     --- Upon resuming at 11:15 a.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Did you, Ms. Campbell, have an answer to the previous question?  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, actually, I do.  And the light hasn't gone on, so I'm just going to bellow at you.  

     MR. KAISER:  That's my fault.  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Is yours on?  

     MR. KAISER:  It is now.  It's flashing.  I don't know what that means. 

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, you control it.  

     MR. KAISER:  No, no. I just control mine.  You have to punch yours.  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, the perks of office.  All right.  

     We do have an answer to the question, and Ms. Klein is going to provide the answer, and then what we propose we do -- because the question has apparently generated so many ideas in the heads of Ms. Klein and Ms. Duguay, what we propose to do is give you a summary of our position right now and then Ms. Klein and Ms. Duguay will put it in writing and flesh it out a little bit more. 

     MR. KAISER:  Okay. 

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And file it tomorrow morning.  So if you would like to go.  


MS. KLEIN:  I would just like to clarify Mr. 

Rupert's question in regards to the T1 in the aggregate excess methodology.  The Board hearing team's view is the T1 customers that are requiring additional storage should be treated very similarly to the gas-fired generators, in that their needs and requirements were negotiated with the gas utilities and those requirements were done at cost.  Their additional requirements were done at the regulated rates.  So we would like to flesh out that answer.  And we haven't sort of come to a process on how the storage requirements between the gas utilities and the customers would be negotiated, so we would like to flesh that out and hand that in tomorrow.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Moran has kindly agreed to precede me.  I have been away all week and sort of scrambling here getting my papers together and I have asked my friends if I might stand down at least until after lunch, perhaps longer.  I hope that doesn't offend the Board.  

     MR. KAISER:  Not at all.  Mr. Moran.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MORAN:

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Board counsel has a hand-out, just a couple of statutory references which I will be referring to.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Moran, I think you need to push a red button.  

     MR. MORAN:  I think it's on now, yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  Okay, thank you.  

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, Union and 

Enbridge have both agreed that, firstly, gas-fired generators have a need for intra-day balancing, and I note that this is connected to the front part of the evidence that was filed by APPrO relating to the reliability of the electricity market.  I think it is now clearly understood by all that the gas-fired generator is different from a number of other -- from other types of customers who might have a more seasonal kind of need.  They might be asked to run or not run on very short notice and have to be in a position to manage their gas supply so that the reliability of the electricity system can be maintained.  

     So based on that need for intra-day balancing, gas-fired generators have a need for short-notice balancing services and short-notice high deliverability.  And finally, there is agreement that there is -- that this need is definitely different from other customers who tend to be more seasonal in their balancing needs.  

     Now, these points of agreement are also supported by various experts that were put forward by various parties called, in particular, by the utilities and Market Hub Partners, Mr. Reed and Mr. Smead, and then the team called by Union.  

     In its evidence, APPrO made a storage allocation proposal that was aimed at meeting this short notice high deliverability need.  And in its reply evidence, Union was concerned that the APPrO proposal would lead to an overallocation of space.  And as was indicated on the record, the perception was it's not so much space as high deliverability that is needed.  So the criticism of the APPrO proposal was it overallocated space in that context.  

     Then we all headed into the settlement conference and, as a result of the settlement conference, agreement was reached with both Union and Enbridge on an allocation methodology that reflected the fact that gas-fired generators have a greater need for the short-notice high- deliverability service, rather than large amounts of space.  

     Now, the two methodologies that you see in the two settlement agreements are based on the same concept.  The primary difference is simply driven by the fact that unlike Union, Enbridge doesn't have sufficient storage assets to cover all of the storage requirements of its in-franchise customers, but conceptually the idea was that you would look at the high deliverability needs of the gas-fired generators and, based on that, come up with an allocation that included the 1.2 percent deliverability and, then, after that, the point of departure was the appropriate pricing to be applied to the additional deliverability.  But it's all underpinned by the space allocation methodology, which means what it comes down to is it won't work in the absence of getting access to that high deliverability.  

     Now, because of the forbearance proceeding, the utilities took the position, and you've heard the evidence that they put forward, that the higher deliverability would be priced at what they referred to as market prices.  

     APPrO takes the position that the short-notice high deliverability service should be provided at cost-based rates.  When I talk about the services that are in play, I'm talking about the high deliverability storage that you heard both utilities talking about and the possibility that they might develop further deliverability and existing storage pools.  

F24T is already proposed as a cost-based service.  The F24S, which underpins it, APPrO would say also has to be provided at cost-based rates to generators and as well as the upstream pipeline balancing service.  These are all underpinned and the same rationale applies to all of these services.  

     So the starting point, then, I think, is the forbearance issue.  I've given you a page that contains some excerpts from the statute.  I would like to start with section 29(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, which states that:   

“On an application or in a proceeding, the Board shall make a determination to refrain, in whole or part, from exercising any power or performing any duty under this Act if it finds as a question of fact that a licensee, person, product, class of products, service, or class of services is or will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest."

     So the question is:  What does that break down to and ultimately what's the test for the Board to apply to the situation?  

     The approach that's been taken by the two utilities is that there's this thing called storage and that's it and we want you to forbear.  

And you heard some evidence, I think from Mr. Henning, that, you know, they looked at the space and deliverability but at a high level.  You didn't hear or see in front of you any evidence relating to the short-notice high deliverability services and how that would factor in as a product.  There's no analysis carried out by anybody with respect to that product or that service, depending on how it's going to be met.  

     So the Board has the authority obviously to determine to refrain partially or in whole, and it also has the authority under section 29 to consider a class of products or individual products, a class of services or individual services.  So you have a lot of flexibility.  


Finally, it comes down to whether that service or class of services is or will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest.  

     I guess the big question is:  What is it -- what does that phrase mean, “competition sufficient to protect the public interest”?  

     In my submission, in order to get the right test for that part of the -- the all-important part of the refraining test, you have to look at the Board's objectives and those are set out in section 1 and section 2.  If you look at the back of the page that I gave you, you will see them set out there.


I've given you both the electricity objectives and the gas objectives, because this is the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review proceeding and so you are considering both sides of this, the electricity side and the gas side.


Now, a key interest and relevance on the electricity side is paragraph 1 of section 1(1):

"The Board in carrying out its responsibilities shall be guided by the following objectives ..." 


And paragraph 1 is:

"To protect the interest of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service."


So, in my submission, when you are considering the forbearance issue, you are required to be guided by issues relating to, on the electricity side, the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service.  


You heard evidence that was prepared, and then subsequently presented by Mr. Kerry, that set out why this is so important on the electricity side.


There is no other evidence before you to suggest that the case is anything other than there is an important issue of reliability that relates to the question of forbearance, and that very important question of reliability has to do with the fact that, at the very last minute, the gas-fired generator may be called upon to run when it wasn't expecting to or may be called upon not to run when it was expecting to run.  


That really comes down to the heart of the matter for those dispatchable gas‑fired generators that we know are coming on line over the next couple of years.


The CES contract, as was described by Mr. Kerry, is a financial contract that is underpinned by the relationship between the Dawn index for gas and the hourly Ontario electricity price.  Everything else is at risk, and that includes transportation.  And so at the end of the day, as Mr. Cramer said a number of times, it may not be economic to run when one considers the penalties versus the consequences of not running under the contract, the CES contract.  And, in my submission, that tells you, very strongly, that you're getting into an area that is going to potentially impinge on the reliability and adequacy of electricity service in Ontario, in the absence of putting in appropriate services to allow the gas‑fired generators to do what they need to do to manage their gas supply.


Turning then to the Board objectives with respect to gas, there are a number of objectives in section 2 that are relevant to this proceeding.


Paragraph 2 says that it is an objective to protect the interest of consumers with respect to prices, and the reliability and quality of gas service.


So in the context of the short-notice high deliverability option, the question is:  How does that objective apply with respect to prices and reliability and quality of gas service?


APPrO's evidence before you is that better management of gas during the gas day, based on the more frequent nominations and the high deliverability service, is going to be a benefit to the reliability and quality of gas service, generally.  And with respect to price the question is:  Is there an appropriate market in place that's appropriately or sufficiently or workably competitive so that that service, that high deliverability short-notice service, can be provided in the absence of regulation by the Board?  And APPrO's position is that the evidence clearly says "no".


Paragraph 3 and paragraph 4 also have relevance, the rational expansion of the transmission and distribution system to facilitate the rational development and safe operation of gas storage.  

High deliverability is a service that can be produced through the enhancement of existing storage pools.  It can be produced through the expansion of pipelines and the adding of capacity.


You heard a discussion about line pack and through the addition of compression.  There is a number of different ways that deliverability can be enhanced.  The question is:  What is the rational way to do it?


So that comes into play with respect to the short-notice high deliverability service that gas‑fired generators need in order to operate in Ontario.


Paragraph 5.1 clearly has relevance, as well:

"To facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable gas industry for the transmission, distribution, and storage of gas."


So in that context, the record before the Board clearly establishes that there is no sufficient competition to protect the public interest that would permit the Board to forbear from regulating the short-notice high deliverability for gas-fired generators.  These are services that are only available from the two utilities in Ontario, Union, and Enbridge.  


How do we know that?  Well, we know that from looking at the settlement agreement, for example.  When you look at the APPrO evidence, there was a number of proposals that, in addition to the storage high deliverability issue, more frequent nomination windows, firm all-day supply, all of these things were part of the package that was put forward in the APPrO evidence.


In the settlement agreement, you can see that there was an agreement reached on more frequent nomination windows, not the hourly nomination windows that were proposed by APPrO, but there are now significantly more nomination windows available within Ontario, based on Union and Enbridge services.  These are firm all day.  But there are limits to what the settlement agreement does.


So the interface between the Union/Enbridge - if I might put them all into one grouping - entities and upstream entities is at Dawn, primarily, and the C1 transportation contracts available to be entered into across the Dawn hub don't have those nomination windows available.  

Union didn't even look at that as a possibility, but they did commit in the settlement agreement to looking at it and reporting back.  We don't know what they're going to report back.  We do know that they will look at it.


So as things stand right now, the more frequent nomination windows, which is the underpinning of firm all-day service, which is the underpinning for the short-notice deliverability requirements that gas‑fired generators need, is limited to Ontario.  There is no access from outside Ontario to provide that kind of service.


Union and Enbridge also agreed to establish a task force that would start to interact with other shippers and other service providers to see if there was the possibility of opening up the Ontario market to the more frequent firm all-day kind of services.  So you have those two commitments, but that's all you have.


In my submission, that is far less than what you need in order to be able to be satisfied that there is or will be sufficient competition to forbear from the regulation of the high deliverability service that the utilities would propose to offer at what they call market prices.


So what did the competition witnesses say?  Mr. Reed was called by Market Hub Partners, and he indicated that he had not reviewed the settlement agreements prior to testifying.  However, he did have an interesting point of principle to make, and that's found at volume 5 of the transcript, at pages 75 and 76.  I will simply read it into the record.  It's not long.


So at page 75, I asked Mr. Reed -- or suggested to Mr. Reed that he hadn't looked at the ability to get no-notice storage service out of Michigan and into Ontario.  

Mr. Reed  says: 

“No.  Again, that is a function of transportation service, and whether you can maintain the no-notice flexibility through the transportation system that you have within storage.  It certainly exists within storage. 


“Mr. Moran:  All right.  The key thing of

course is that storage by itself doesn't really have much value if you can't get access to it; right?  


“Mr. Reed:  Right.  You can get access to it.  As to whether the access because of transportation tariff terms require that you lose some of the no-notice flexibility associated with the storage is a separate question.  That would go to how you establish the transportation service.  But in general, if the transportation service is available to Union storage and it is available to competing storage on an open-access basis - I mean, that is what open access is, the same terms for all competing providers - then the transportation service isn't going to be a source of competitive advantage.  

     “Mr. Moran:  Right.  And of course the flip side of that is, if that transportation open access isn't available, then that's a problem, isn't it?  

     “Mr. Reed:  That's a fair point.  If in fact you don't have open access for the monopoly service - and that can be used to provide a competitive advantage in storage service - then that, I think, would be quite improper and it does limit competition.  The solution to that, of course, is to make sure you have open access to the transportation service."

     So when you take that comment by Mr. Reed specifically in the context of the settlement agreement - and the settlement agreement says that the more frequent nomination windows, the transportation, the access to the all-day firm’s high deliverability, whether it's storage or otherwise - clearly you can only come to one conclusion, that there isn't -- that there is a competitive advantage in the hands of Union and Enbridge, because no one else has that kind of access and no one else is able to provide that kind of service throughout the day with the enhanced nomination windows.  

     Those are questions that are to be addressed in the future.  As I say, Union agreed that it would look at the C1 contract issue, and both Union and Enbridge indicated that they would participate in a task force that would look at that question, but that's where the issue stands today on that kind of service.  

     Now, Mr. Smead was the expert witness who was called by Enbridge, and he agreed that storage from Michigan is limited to the NAESB windows.  It's not controversial.  Again, that's reflective of how the settlement agreements are set up as well.  So what you have is the NAESB windows at Dawn, then the enhanced windows downstream of Dawn.  So if you're upstream of Dawn, you can't provide the firm all-day, short-notice deliverability service that everybody agrees is a need of gas-fired generators.  

     Finally, and most significantly, the marketers and customers themselves, as you heard from them, confirmed the absence of a market that would be sufficiently competitive.  There are a number of places in the transcript where that is set out, and I will give you the references.  


Again, I have some short quotes from there.  

     At volume 10, at pages 138 to 140 of the transcript, there's the direct examination of the APPrO witnesses.  I asked Mr. Rosenkranz a question:   


“Now, in light of the description of the settlement on storage allocation that's laid out in the two settlement agreements and in the context of the services as you've described them, with the addition of nomination windows within the Union system, can an in-franchise generator access high deliverability storage that's located outside of Ontario to meet its intra-day needs?  

     “Mr. Rosenkranz:  I think it's important to -- the answer is, today ‘no’, and I want to explain why the answer is ‘no’.  So if we're looking at the access to deliverability above 1.2 percent, say, for a Union customer to go with his T1 transportation service, the only service, the only storage that meets that need and is comparable to what is needed to round out that service package is additional deliverability in terms of injection and withdrawal, on that customer's T1 storage service space.  

“So we're dealing with a particular product that's very narrow in terms of sort of the storage product space, if I say that correctly.  And that's where we're looking at the service that generators will be looking to, to acquire.  That is not something that is available in the market today.  It's something that's very specific to that utility.  It's very specific to those particular rate schedules, and it's very specific to the particular location of Dawn."

     Then I turned to Mr. Kelly:


“Mr. Kelly, as you will know, there has been many references to the secondary market and what marketers might be able to do for customers.  How would you describe the intra-day secondary market in Ontario?  

     “Mr. Kelly:  I'd say that the intra-day secondary market in Ontario is not capable of providing the services that gas-fired generators need.  TransCanada has held extensive discussions, most specifically within its work on PEC.  That's the Portland Energy Centre.  We have held a number of discussions with marketers.  We have posted RFPs specifically for the services that we believe PEC requires in order to manage its fuel on a day-to-day basis.  And to date we have not been successful in terms of securing the types of services that we require.  

“In fact, in conversations with the marketers, they have indicated to us that the types of services that we really need are the types of services that are actually being discussed here at the NGEIR forum.


So as I mentioned, the types of services that the gas-fired generators need at this point in time, the marketing community, we've seen no indication from the marketing community that they're able or capable of providing those services to us on a reliable basis intra-day.  

     “Mr. Moran:  Mr. Cramer, has your experience been any different from what Mr. Kelly has described?  

     “Mr. Cramer:  No.”  

     So you have three representatives of -- on the customer side, Mr. Rosenkranz.  Ms. Chaplin, as you will recall, Mr. Rosenkranz was involved in the Greenfield Energy Coalition matter, so he was looking at the marketplace for Greenfield.  

Mr. Kelly is associated with the Portlands Energy Centre, and Mr. Cramer is associated with the Sithe facility.  

Three different customers are all saying exactly the same thing, that the intra-day service is not available in Ontario and ultimately it will only be available from the utility.  

     Now, Mr. Cass was cross-examining on this.  He was asking Mr. Rosenkranz some questions.  This is found at volume 10 at pages 180 to 181, and I will just quote an extract from that.  

     He's asking Mr. Rosenkranz questions about the high deliverability service.  So Mr. Cass:

“The high deliverability service we're now talking about, Mr. Rosenkranz.  If I went out and said, I have a half Bcf of Enbridge space with which I had a 1.2 percent deliverability and I want additional deliverability to go with my contract on Enbridge, I can guarantee you that no one would be able to respond to that RFP.  And that's what we're talking about here today.  

     “Mr. Cass:  But, Mr. Rosenkranz, deliverability is just a certain amount of gas in a certain amount of time.  There's many ways you could go out and find out in the market who can give you that amount of gas at that time.  

     “Mr. Rosenkranz:  Not to get my gas out of my storage contract today.


“Mr. Cramer:  Delivered to my burner tip." 

     Now, the point that's being made very strongly here is that on an intra-day basis, as things vary during the course of the day, the gas-fired generators need to be either able to get it out of storage quickly or put it back in quickly.  

Again, you have the gas-fired generators saying clearly, there isn't a market out there for that kind of service.  It can't be done.  It can't be provided by somebody else.  

     There's a tie-in to how the allocation methodology was set up in the settlement agreements.  The space is constrained, because the expectation is that deliverability will be added to that.  And you can see the schedule in the Union settlement in appendix B at the back that shows how that would work on a per hundred megawatt basis.  
Ultimately the generator has to determine just how much of that deliverability it wants to contract for, and then it's all based on that space for that four-day period to manage that four days up and down, covering the weekend and so on.  

Now, there was also an exchange between Mr. Rosenkranz and Mr. Cass where Mr. Cass unsuccessfully attempted to get Mr. Rosenkranz to agree that high deliverability is "out there".  The reference for that exchange is transcript volume 10, starting at pages 164 through 169.  

Mr. Cass says this:   

“No, I'm saying quite the opposite.  I'm asking you to agree with me that it's out there and it's available."


This is the high deliverability short-notice service:

"Mr. Rosenkranz:  It's available, and it's available to -- but what we're trying to say is that there are certain resources that are available to the utilities, because of the assets they control, that aren't available to the utility customers and that the customers need to get from the utilities what they can't get from other parties.

"Mr. Cass:  That's fair enough.  You're saying it's out there ..."


Showing a bit of a disconnect with the answer that Mr. Rosenkranz had just given:

"... but the utility -- in the case of Enbridge Gas Distribution at least, you're thinking the utility should go out and get it?

"Mr. Rosenkranz:  And it should get it by the most efficient means possible.  If the deliverability, in terms of it being able to get more gas to Parkway at short notice by Union - and I keep coming back to Union - is better done by expansion or compression of pipe as opposed to more withdrawal capacity back at the storage field, that's their responsibility ..."


The utility's:

"... to figure out what that is."


Then later on in volume 10 at pages 174 to 175:

"Mr. Cass:  Okay.  And part of that, I think APPrO is saying, is even if that price -- even if just the pure incremental cost appeared to be too high for APPrO, APPrO itself would be looking around to see what other solutions there might be, right, or, I should say, the generators?  I hope that's understood when I say APPrO.

"Mr. Rosenkranz:  I think our view is that, depending on the price of the margin, we may buy less."


And here is the important part of the answer that he gives:

"But we don't see that there is an alternative out there to replace all that storage.  So we came out with a particular formula that we worked very hard with the utilities to come up with, something that we felt was a reasonable base amount of storage with the short-notice high deliverability features to go with the deliverability service, delivery service that a generator would need, recognizing that some would need more and some would need less.  

“It is stated in terms of a maximum with the ability to -- but it's not a commitment to purchase all of that.  Price may be a factor, but our concern is that we cannot replicate that service from any other means today."


That's an important point, because if you consider the projects that Union and Enbridge are looking at - the ones that they say, Hey, if you don't give us forbearance, we're probably not going to go ahead with it - they're not looking at new storage pools.  They're looking at enhancements to existing pools, and they told us what that means.  It means adding wells, adding compression and so on, that kind of enhancement to an existing pool.  And they identified the scope of the project they're looking at.  


But clearly you would develop those projects as they're required and as they get taken up.


So if the generators are signalling that they need a certain amount, then you can start planning to meet that amount.  Maybe you have to add one or two wells, as opposed to ten, or maybe you have to add a little bit of compression, as opposed to a lot, but there is a way to plan that.  


In fact, if you look at how storage developed over the last little while, there is an undertaking, K3.1, from Union that sets out how storage has been developed over the last number of years.  And you will see that over the last 15 to 20 years there's incremental enhancements happening steadily over the course of those years, a couple of Bcf here, five there, seven there, 0.1, but you can see it's all being done primarily on an enhancement basis.  


There are also some greenfield additions that you will see set out in that.


So you have the customers, and then there was a marketer who showed up, BP Canada.  And so it's clear that you didn't receive any evidence on the availability of short-notice high deliverability services that could be made available from outside Ontario and into ‑‑ into and brought into Ontario, which isn't particularly surprising, as I've indicated previously.  

The settlement agreement itself indicates that that's the case, because the additional nomination windows that you need for that firm all-day service are only available within the Ontario situation.  They're not available at the Dawn hub and across the Dawn hub, and there's only a task force being proposed to look at whether those more frequent nomination windows might be made available upstream.


Anyway, BP confirmed it is unable to offer high deliverability storage on a firm short-notice basis in Ontario.  And that's at volume 13, pages 67 to 68.


In fact, Mr. Acker, he was very forthright about the limits that a marketer has.  He says:   

"We have practical limits.  We can only do what the physical marketplace will physically allow us to do.  Again, I'll emphasize that to the best of my knowledge, up until the situation where prospective power generators, Ontario had been looking for services that presently do not exist.  I am unaware of anyone who has been able to satisfy their needs, whether it is in the primary, secondary, or ex‑franchise market."


Mr. Brown then asks:   

"Are you familiar with the film Field of Dreams?"


Mr. Acker says "Yes", and Mr. Brown says:

"Okay.  And you remember this baseball field was going to be built out in the middle of Iowa or California or somewhere ..."


It was Iowa:

"... and there was a phrase:  If you build it, they will come.  Do you remember that phrase in the movie?"


Mr. Acker says:   

"That adequately or accurately describes marketers.  You buy it, and I'll show up to help you optimize it." 


Inside that, there is an important point.  The utilities are the only ones that can offer that service.  If the generators buy it, the marketers say they can help you optimize it, but they're not saying they can replicate it or provide alternatives, and Mr. Acker was very upfront about that.


Just in passing, I would like to note that in the Field of Dreams, when it was built, we shouldn't lose sight of the fact that the people that showed up were a bunch of ghosts, and then they all disappeared into the cornfield again and that's the last we ever saw of them.  That's not meant to be casting aspersions on marketers, but rather ‑‑ 


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, yes, it is.


MR. MORAN:  Rather, that we are really talking about a very limited service, a very limited source of the service, and that's the one that the utilities have control over.


So, in my submission, it's been clearly established, beyond a shadow of a doubt, that there is no market for the high deliverability service that's needed by utilities; that is, sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest.  It's only available from the utilities.


This applies to high deliverability storage.  It applies to the F24S service, because it's underpinned by the same Dawn assets, and the upstream pipeline balancing service.  We say that all of those should be provided at cost to generators.


This is an important proposition.  I mean, there may be some other folks out there.  We don't know who they are and whether they would ever need it or not, but it's clear that the generators need it and it is clear they can only get it from the utilities; and so since it's only available from the utility, it is properly viewed as a utility service and it ought to be regulated as such.


The utilities have an obligation to serve.  It's set out in the statute.  Clearly they have an obligation to be prudent, as well, which is why the position that they take with respect to high deliverability storage is kind of an odd position for them to take, because one would have thought that a prudent utility would not arbitrarily say, Just because I can't get the price I want for it, I'm not going to build it.


If high deliverability truly is required by generators, and there doesn't seem to be any doubt about that, then the utilities  have an obligation to be prudent with respect to how they go about meeting that obligation.  

And as the evidence suggests, there are different ways of meeting that high deliverability.  You can meet it through line pack or additional compression or new pipeline capacity or enhancement of storage pools to increase the deliverability.  Those are really the ways to look at it.  
And they all have a price, and if the utility wants to choose an approach, in my submission, it's obligated to look at a rational economic approach, one that is prudent, one that doesn't incur more costs than has to be incurred.  If they don't, then in a rates proceeding they face the risk of a disallowance, and the prudence test will apply to this.  

     So if they have identified enhancements to existing storage pools that can produce the higher deliverability that is required by that - and that turns out to be cheaper than building new pipeline, and I suspect it probably is - then that's the way they should be going with it.  If they choose not to, they're the ones that should bear the difference in cost when it comes to recovering that from ratepayers.    

     Ultimately it may be that there's no more storage and those are the only alternatives that are left, expanded pipeline.  There are other jurisdictions without storage facilities, the way Ontario has, and that's how they do it.  
You heard from GMI, you know, they have to go to Union to get some storage because they don't have it locally, but it's still cheaper for them to pay the price they've been paying to Union than to enhance their system and build more pipeline with more capacity and more space in it.  

     You heard some discussion about risk, that they don't want to make the investment because there's a certain amount of risk.  But I don't really understand that point, in the context of how storage has developed in Ontario.  

     Both utilities have developed storage facilities at various times in Ontario under different rate regimes, and all the way through it all they scheme to be able to manage it in a prudent manner and there is no evidence to suggest that they're going to start acting imprudently, other than their statement that, We simply won't even consider an alternative of enhancement if we don't get forbearance.  

     So in conclusion on the forbearance issue, as far as it applies to the high deliverability service required by generators, in my submission there is no evidence that the Board can act on to conclude that it ought to forbear in the context of that service.  The Board ought to establish that that service is to be provided to gas-fired generators on the basis of cost-based rates.  


You've heard how the generators have said they're prepared to pay the incremental costs associated with that high deliverability service and that deliverability should be there for two very good reasons.  One, it's going to allow these very large users of gas to better manage their daily gas flows, and that will benefit the gas system; two, and perhaps more importantly, it's going to allow them to meet the reliability and adequacy needs on the electricity side.  They will be able to run when they have to run or when they're asked to run on short notice, or shut down when they're asked to shut down on short notice.  


Those are two important benefits to both electricity consumers and gas consumers in Ontario.  

     I have one other point to make that's separate from the rate 125, and Board counsel indicated that you had a commitment at 12 o'clock and I note that it is 12 o'clock.  It would take me about five minutes on the last point, but I'm happy to come back after lunch.  

     MR. KAISER:  I think if you only have five minutes, we'll finish up.  

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  This last issue is the rate 125 migration issue.  That has to do with the fact that many years ago, in 2000, rate 125 was established by Enbridge and it was intended to be designed for gas-fired generators.  There was always one customer identified as being able to migrate, and that is TransAlta who is a gas-fired generator.  

     From the very beginning, that rate was established for all comers.  So there was always an expectation that could be migration to that rate by an existing customer.  When it was first proposed in 2000, there was a settlement agreement, and IGUA signed off on that settlement agreement, accepting that rate as it was proposed with migration always being possible.  


And as Enbridge has set out in its written argument in this hearing, there are a number of reasons why the migration didn't happen.  They are economic reasons, and you will find that set out in Enbridge's written argument at page 25 and following.  

     Mr. Thompson at some point later today is going to talk about how IGUA is opposed to migration for rate 125, and he's going to talk about how if it's for bypass, it really should be for new customers.  

I just want to underline today that there are two aspects to rate 125.  There is a bypass component to the amended version of rate 125 that's been brought forward in this proceeding.  TransAlta doesn't have access to the contract demand billing feature.  That is restricted to new customers.  

     All that TransAlta has the right to do is to migrate to the -- to rate 125 but without those new anti-bypass features.  So it has nothing to do with bypass.  It's the original kind of rate that was set up that TransAlta always could have migrated to and over the last number of years hasn't.  



The other thing I would ask you to keep in mind when you hear Mr. Thompson's submissions on behalf of IGUA is the same migration issue arises in Rate 300.  A whole bunch of customers who are in his constituency and can migrate, but he's certainly not opposed to migration in that context.  

I say what is sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander, and that if these rates are designed for all comers, then you expect to have a certain amount of migration.  And certainly there are folks on his side of the fence that will benefit from that.  

TransAlberta may migrate to Rate 300 as well.  It has that ability.  It would be unfortunate that rate 125, with certain features that were intended to assist gas-fired generators, would not be made available to the customer that was in the class of customer that it was intended to benefit and that at this late stage that somehow TransAlta would be told, Oh, you've had the right to my rate since 2000 but not any more.  

     There was a clear understanding through the course of the years, that there was a economic reason for why somebody might not migrate right away, and at the moment the opportunity to migrate is coming up at this point, and that's all described in some detail in Enbridge's argument as well.  

     Those are my submissions, subject to any questions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Moran, you mentioned the obligation to serve.  Is the obligation to serve any different with respect to storage than it is with respect to gas, in your view?  

     MR. MORAN:  The statute says that the obligation is to provide distribution and transmission service.  The specific distribution service that we are talking about is high deliverability service.  

     It may be that the best way to meet that service requirement - and that's a distribution service requirement - is through high deliverability storage, and it may be that the best way to meet it is through expanding pipeline capacity or increasing line pack.  There is a number of different ways it can be met.  

     So in my submission, it doesn't turn on whether ultimately it might be met by storage.  That may simply be the most prudent way to meet it.  And certainly a lot of the requirements, the distribution requirements of Ontario customers have been met in large part as a result of the availability of storage in Ontario.  

     So the obligation to serve is on the distributor, to provide distribution service.  High deliverability service is a distribution service.  And then the question is:  How is it best met? 

     If it's going to be met through high deliverability storage, then the generators say, That's fine, we'll pay the incremental costs of that and we want it allocated to us because it's designed to dovetail with the allocation methodology that's set out in the settlement agreements.  

     Until we met some other way, then we need to understand how that works as well, and ultimately there will be a cost either way to high deliverability intra‑day service, short-notice service.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. KAISER:  That's exactly the issue.  The Enbridge position - I'm talking page 21 and 22 of their argument, I'm sure you've read it many times - essentially says, If you don't give us forbearance, if you don't give us market‑based rates, we're simply going to buy this on the open market.  That completes our obligation to serve.  You're going to get market‑based rates whichever way you decide to go, Mr. Board.  


That's their position.  Does that meet their statutory obligation, in your view?


MR. MORAN:  At a certain level, it does.  I mean, it's a very cute argument, when you think about it.  I'm not sure what market they're talking about, because everyone else who showed up in front of you said there's no market.


So the only people they can go to for deliverability is Union, because we're talking about a firm all-day service, and only Union and Enbridge are offering that firm all-day service.  I mean, TCPL may have some kind of service in the future, if they're successful before the NEB, that might meet some aspects of that.  But right now, the way things stand, they will have to go to Union.  They can't go to Michigan for firm all-day high deliverability, because Michigan is shut out by the NAESB windows.


So we're really talking about an Ontario utility.  That's why I think it is a mistake to try to separate Enbridge and Union too much on this, in this context, because, sure, Enbridge will pay whatever price Union requires them to pay.  I'm not sure how they go about getting high deliverability from Union and we don't have any evidence on how that would work.  We just have the bald statement, We will go to the market.  And we know that is limited to Union and Enbridge


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Just three questions, Mr. Moran.  First, a very quick one:  Page 23 of Enbridge's final argument, something you didn't address specifically in your argument, the comment is made there to the extent that high deliverability storage -- with respect to high deliverability storage in the settlement agreement.  

Essentially, it says that there are conditions around that settlement agreement were such that if the service is available in the market, then Enbridge will provide it, and it closes with a punch line that says:

"The generators must have been confident about the ability of the market to deliver appropriate services." 


Now, you didn't speak specifically to that in your argument, but I ask for your comment on that characterization of the settlement agreement.


MR. MORAN:  Sure.  I mean, that goes back to the ‑‑ what I did say with respect to the exchange between Mr. Cass and Mr. Rosenkranz, where he attempted to get or tried to get Mr. Rosenkranz to agree that it's out there?


Now, clearly Mr. Rosenkranz did not agree that it's out there, so I don't know where Mr. Cass gets his confidence or his view that the generators were confident.  I mean, I could tell you that when you look at the two settlement agreements and how they're set up, there can be no confusion about the fact that the space got squeezed down because it was going to be ‑‑ that the need was going to be met on high deliverability.


So to go back and to quote you earlier, what you described as the dumb way to meet the deliverability, you know, you could just buy up a whole bunch of space.  Well, the settlement agreement isn't set up that way.  That's not an option.  We're going to be allocated -- the generators are only going to be allocated based on the concept that high deliverability has to be added to that.


So if you set up the whole construct, I'm not sure, again, where Mr. Cass gets the idea in his submissions that somehow the generators are confident.  It's not going to work, based on the allocation that we have in the settlement agreement, if high deliverability isn't added on a cost basis, as well.  That is a package, and we're here to argue about whether it should be cost or market.  But that's the nature of the debate, is it cost or market?  You can't, on the one hand, say, Here's a methodology that envisages high deliverability and then, on the other hand, say, Oh, by the way, best of luck in the open season.  


Maybe some other players will come in and buy up all that high deliverability, which is only available in Ontario.  So, in effect, you have transferred Enbridge's and Union's market power to some other person who is prepared to bid it up in order to beat the generators, and then the generators are still captive, because there is nowhere else to go for this.  


That's why an open season doesn't make any sense and that's why it has to be an allocation.


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.  In your argument now, and frequently throughout your direct and cross‑examinations, you spoke about reliability of the electricity system.  I just want to make sure I understand how the outcome of this proceeding will affect reliability.


My understanding, from things that you said earlier and some of your witnesses and others, is that although it may be expensive, it would be physically possible to operate a gas‑fired generation station today without enhanced services.  Maybe in some people's views it would be outrageously expensive.  


Is that the reason why there would be reliability issues, is that generators would choose not to operate because of the punitive economics, as opposed to physically being unable to operate in the way required by the contracts?


MR. MORAN:  Well, I think there's two components to it, Mr. Rupert.


First of all, the contracts that the dispatchable generators operate under, they're not physical obligations, and Mr. Cramer indicated that in his evidence.


It's a financial obligation.  It's a capacity agreement.  You're making capacity available, and so you will be deemed to run based on a formula that juxtapositions the Dawn index commodity price against the hourly electricity price.


Then in that context, you have to bid into the IESO market, and then the IESO will determine whether you actually get dispatched based on economic dispatch.


The generators are going to act in an economically rational way.  I mean, they're not going to run at a loss.  So they will have to balance what happens under the CES contract and what happens on short notice in the electricity market.


So it's not just a question of whether it's hugely expensive or not.  It's really a question of -- it's part of it.  It may be prohibitively expensive and, therefore, more economically rational not to run.  But, secondly, the gas has to be there.  So, you know, that's what the firm all-day service is intended to achieve, is to make sure the gas is there on short notice.  


So there is a physical side and a financial side, an economic side to the question, both of which impinge on reliability.


MR. RUPERT:  Last question, because my colleagues have to go.


I understand your position, I think.  I would like to just ask you if APPrO has attempted to generalize this in some way?


If you were to provide cost‑based high deliverability storage to gas-fired generators ‑‑ and I take it these are some gas-fired generators, since a lot of the out contracts have been able to operate, it seems, quite well already, and other generators within Union's territory seem to operate.  


So if we have high deliverability storage at cost‑based rates for some generators, what is the ‑‑ is there a general principle that the Board should apply in determining where to draw the line?  Who comes forward next and says, My needs are special.  I need something different at cost.  Does APPrO have a view as to what the right line is, and is there a principle behind where the line should be?


MR. MORAN:  So we're looking at three categories of players, as you've identified them.  There's the dispatchable generators, there's the existing ones in the Union territory, and then what used to be call the NUGs.  

So the NUGs, as the evidence indicates, are more steady-state operators.  They don't have the intra‑day balancing issue.  That's why they're not dispatchable.  They're like co-generators.  A lot of them are co-gens with steam hose and that kind of thing, and they have a particular kind of contract that recovers costs in a different way than the CES contract does.


Then there's the ones in the Union territory who -- the two that were up and running, who subsequently entered into an early movers' contract, and so they are in a slightly different category, because they had different kinds of costs, and then presumably that got factored in, in some fashion, in those contracts.  

Then, finally, you've got the dispatchable generators who are coming along.


The NUGs are going to be coming off their contracts in a while, and, you know, they're going to be looking at what services they're going to need down the road and how they're going to operate down the road.  They may not operate the same way as they're operating under their current contracts, because that might not make sense in the context of the Ontario market at that time.  So we don't know how that is going to play out.  


I expect the Board will be seeing that question as it comes up.  A lot of the contracts are going to start expiring in the next three to four years, and then onwards after that.


So the principle is:  If you've got a group of customers like the dispatchable generators who have specific needs that everybody agrees on, then the principle, I would submit, that comes out of that is that if everybody agrees that they have specific distribution service needs, then how do you meet them and what's the best way to meet them?


In the final analysis, with respect to the high deliverability, it's one piece of the puzzle, because the rest of it is found in the settlement agreement, more frequent nomination windows, and a storage allocation methodology that limits to operational needs the kind of storage space with high deliverability that a gas‑fired generator might need.


You probably got a flavour of this, a little bit, maybe from the Technical Conference transcripts and maybe from the Union final argument, that in theory if high deliverability has to be provided at cost to generators, they could snap it all up and then make a bundle and arbitrage.  That can't be an issue, given the settlement agreement and given how it's set up.  I mean, that was one of the factors that says, Well, what do you really need from an operational perspective, not from an arbitrage perspective?


So, in my submission, the principle is you have a class of customers with a clearly defined need that can be met and should be met by the distributor and is only available from the distributor and, therefore, ought to be provided on a cost-of-service basis.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  

We will come back in an hour.  Make that 1:20.  Thank you.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.
     --- Upon resuming at 1:20 p.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Who is next?  Mr. Thompson?  Or did you find a sub?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Pinch hitter, so I guess I'm on, Mr. Chairman.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:

     MR. THOMPSON:  I have placed in front of you, each of the Board members, a document entitled “IGUA/AMPCO Argument Outline.”  And then there is also a compendium of documents with it.  

     In order to follow my submissions, in addition to those documents - I hope these materials are accessible to you - what you will need is the IGUA/AMPCO prefiled evidence, which was Exhibit X9.1, primarily for the purposes of the decisions that are appended to it.  

     Then the two other documents that I'll be referring to in the course of the argument are briefs that I filed for the purposes of cross-examination.  One was the IGUA-AMPCO cross-examination brief re storage regulation J7.1.  Then there was the cross-examination brief re transactional services, which was J7.2.  Again, the purpose of having those binders available is that they do contain cases and text references that were presented to the witnesses during the course of the proceedings.  I'm sure the contents of those materials may be familiar to you.  

      MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Thompson, if I could just interrupt.  I don't have all of those materials with me, and I'm not sure that the Panel does either. 

     MR. KAISER:  No, we don't. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Do you want some of us to run up and get those?  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, could you?  

We'll proceed in the interim, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I won't be getting to those for a few moments.  

     Let me just say that I might also, in an attempt to not duplicate what others have done, cross-reference where I can to the written argument of Mr. Warren, a draft of which I've seen, which I understand is pretty much final.  Then I received yesterday the written argument of Mr. Aiken, which is quite thorough in some of the points that he makes, and I'm assuming the Board is familiar with those written arguments.  

     Let me also just say in introduction, Mr. Chairman, that at one point in the proceedings you asked whether the intervenors representing the ratepayer interests would be making a joint submission.  It's obvious that our submissions are not being made jointly, although there has been collaboration in attempting to minimize a duplication.  There was considerable difficulty in developing a joint approach, because of overlapping holiday schedules and the complexity of this case, but I do want to assure you that we've done our best to try and at least be reasonably consistent, if nothing else.  

     From the argument outline that I provided, you will see that there are ten major topics on which I propose to make submissions, and, if possible, I would ask the reporter to list these topics in the transcript, and I say "if possible."  


The other aspect of the matter of argument, I will be at some stages of it making reference to some of the evidence, but I don't intend to cite transcript references at any great length.  But if those references would be of assistance to the Board at the conclusion of the argument, what I've done in other cases, and what I would be prepared to do in this case, is to, in effect, edit the transcript and add a transcript of the argument and add references to the evidence, if the Board thought that to be of assistance.  So perhaps at the end of my submissions you can indicate whether you feel that might be helpful.  

     Let me also just say at the outset that I'm somewhat concerned with the Board hearing staff proposals that were put on the table for the first time this morning.  I thought the exercise in this case was to call for the presentation of options with respect to the questions the Board had posed in its hearing orders and procedural orders on the record so that they could be tested, their implications fully considered and impacts, in particular, examined.  

     I'm not in a position, today, to really respond to these new propositions that have been floated for the first time in argument, and I will be requesting an opportunity to discuss these with my clients and get back to you with our comments on them, if that's appropriate.  

     MR. KAISER:  That's acceptable and understandable, Mr. 

Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  I must confess, I didn't capture them all -- all of the propositions that Ms. Campbell was advocating for the first time.  I did catch the core/non-core concept, but a lot of the deferral account relief that was being proposed, I will need to review the transcript to be clear on what the Board hearing team is now suggesting.  

     The other aspect that I would just like to mention before I begin this argument is please interrupt me if you have any questions during the course of my submissions.  It might be more productive if we engage in debate as the argument progresses rather than leaving everything to the end, because I expect to be some considerable time.  

     So with that, let me start with topic 1:  Introduction.


I. INTRODUCTION

     MR. THOMPSON:  The IGUA and AMPCO member companies, as the Board is aware, are listed in the prefiled IGUA/AMPCO evidence.  You heard from the IGUA witness panel and you're aware that the –- sorry, IGUA and AMPCO witness panel -- and you are aware that this combined intervention was for the purposes of mitigating and ideally eliminating the risk of material increases in the total delivered cost of gas and electricity at the plants of the IGUA member companies.
    Mr. Fournier for IGUA and Mr. White for AMPCO elaborated on the rationale for the combined IGUA/AMPCO intervention when they testified.
    Now, both the, what I call, the current and end state
forbearance relief which Union, MHP, and Enbridge Gas
Distribution ask you to grant will cause significant harm to ratepayers.  The evidence with respect to these impacts is described by Mr. Warren in his argument.  I think it's in paragraph 46.  And you do have in the compendium at tabs - sorry, I think it's 5 and 7 - the evidence provided, first of all, by Mr. Baker of Union in my cross‑examination of the Union panel.  That's at tab 5.  And then, secondly, the evidence of the Enbridge panel, starting at tab 7, dealing with the impacts of the end state which these utilities seek.


Just to put the numbers on the table.  As I say, they're in Mr. Warren's argument and in these transcript references.  The immediate impact of the Union forbearance proposal, which involves forbearing on long‑term storage and short‑term storage services, and their contention that that takes the premium out of play, is, according to the evidence, about a 44‑and‑a‑half million dollar rate increase for Union's distribution customers, which will fall primarily on the backs of Union's residential customer class.


In the Enbridge proposition, which, as I understand it, in its immediate impact, involves confiscating the storage‑related component of the transactional services revenues, the rate impact on customers will be an increase of about $6 million.  That's based on, as I recall it, the 2006 estimate of storage revenues in the 6 million -- about 6 million in the $10.7 million that is reflected in the Board's decision pertaining to Enbridge's 2006 rate case.


So out of the gate, we are talking about $50 million per year in rate increases for existing ratepayers of Enbridge and Union, if you grant the forbearance relief that is concurrently proposed.


Both Enbridge and MHP are advocating that the entire market of storage, as I understand it, if it were moved to Dawn, would be competitive and that, on that basis, they're asking you to, in effect, implicitly approve a transition to an end state that would have all storage in Ontario being sold ‑‑ all Dawn-based storage in Ontario held by Union and EGD being sold at market rates.  And that scenario, based on the numbers that are in the transcript references that I have included in the compendium - and one of them includes the evidence of Mr. Charleson, where he agreed that the approach that we were using with respect to the 30 cents and the 40 cents and the dollar was a reasonable approach to follow - the impact of all of that is described in Mr. Warren's paragraph 46.  


What you get in the Union case is another $56 million.  That's the 80 Bcf that currently will be under the auspices of cost -- its in‑franchise customers' cost‑based rates times the 70 cents.  


 Then in the Enbridge case, you get an additional $67.2 million, which is the portion of their in‑franchise customer base that will, in this end state, move to market‑based rates.


So if you add it all up, the 44-and-a-half million, the 56 and some change for Union, would give you slightly over 100; and the 67.2 for Enbridge and the 6 million that is being confiscated from TS revenue, the impact of all of this, the current and end state proposition being advocated by these parties, is $173.7 million per year.


So that, in the submissions of my clients, is one of the priority factual matters that you should have regard to when you are considering the forbearance relief proposed in this case.


The question we asked at the outset, in developing our submissions to you, is:  Who benefits from this?  Who benefits from this?  And the answer is:  The holding company owners of Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas.  There's nothing in it for gas consumers served by Enbridge and Union.


And who else benefits by having the delivered price for gas at the burner tip increase in the Province of Ontario?  The marketers.  Marketers benefit, because any increase in the landed cost at the burner tip of gas gives them more head room, and you should not forget that when you are examining these proposals.


And what's the rationale that should prompt you to take a hands‑off approach to the regulation of existing storage services provided from existing capacity held by Union and EGD?  Competition.  That's their argument.  Competition trumps your rate-making authority.  That's essentially what Enbridge says in its argument.  And Union, in its argument, tells us that competition supersedes any other public interest factor requiring regulation.  You will find a statement to that effect in their argument at page 2.  That's what I interpreted it to mean.


Again, we rhetorically ask:  What regulator, acting reasonably, could possibly forbear from exercising its rate-making authority in circumstances where the immediate result will be a $50 million increase in rates to existing customers and up to $174 million per year increases in distribution rates?


My clients have considerable difficulty understanding why we are even considering these proposals which will have such an adverse rate impact, if allowed.


My clients sincerely hope that at the end of the day, you will reject any of the forbearance relief being sought in these proceedings which has a materially adverse impact on distribution ratepayers.


Now, what we see in these proposals, in my submission, is yet again another attempt by Union and EGD to enhance the returns of their energy conglomerate holding company owners.  These types of proposals are not new.  We've experienced them before, and we've experienced them before on the eve of an implementation of an incentive regulation plan.

     The last time Union tried to confiscate the premium associated with long-term storage and the other revenues in the deferral accounts, the margin deferral accounts, was in the 1999-0017 proceeding, which pertained to the establishment of a base year for Union's three-year PBR plan.  

     Here we are again.  2007 is going to be a base year for the operation of an incentive regulation plan, and guess what?  They're trying to do exactly the same thing as they did before, confiscate the storage premiums and the TS revenues for the benefit of its shareholder.  

     The reason for that - and Mr. Baker mentioned it in his testimony - is the same reason they advanced when they last tried it:  We need more money to help us manage the risks under the auspices of an incentive regulation plan.  

     So the MO, the modus operandi, here is get your rates up and the streams of income outside the ambit of regulation flowing in so that when we roll into incentive regulation, we will really do well.  That, in my submission, is not what incentive regulation is designed to stimulate.  Incentive regulation is designed to stimulate efficiency in the operation of the utilities, not conduct which confiscates revenues from ratepayers to enhance the returns of the owners.  

     And I've said this before, and I'm going to say it again:  The management of the utilities in this province, which report directly to these holding company owners, appear, to me and to my clients, to be incapable of reasonably balancing the interests of their ratepayers and their shareholders.  

     The corporate structure, in effect, requires them to attempt to enhance the returns of the parent company at the expense of its ratepayers.  And this structure, in my submission, places a heavy onus on the Board to guard against that kind of result.  

     To me this case is but another of the never-ending attempts to achieve enhanced returns for the owner at the expense of ratepayers.  

     So in the submissions which follow, our goal is to attempt to persuade you to reject the massive shareholder enrichment proposals which are central to this proceeding.  

     Let me move to my second point, if I might, second topic, heading:  The narrowing of unresolved matters in issue.  


II. THE NARROWING OF UNRESOLVED MATTERS IN ISSUE

     MR. THOMPSON:  The point I'm trying to develop here is that the landscape of this case changed quite considerably between initial procedural order issued and the date the eventual hearing commenced, and it's in that context, then, that the hearing background that I want to touch on for just a moment is important.  

     In my submission, there were four factors which prompted these proceedings.  One was the special needs of gas-fired generators.  The second was the untested contention in the NGF process of some that forbearance from rate regulation, for all of Ontario Dawn-based storage, was needed to stimulate the development of new storage potential, new underground storage potential in Ontario.  The third was the untested contention of some in the NGF process that there is a significant amount of undeveloped storage potential in Ontario.  And the fourth point

which prompted these proceedings, in my submission, was concern about storage services price discrimination, including the appropriateness of continuing to distinguish between Union's in-franchise and ex-franchise customers.  

     Now, the scope of the matters in issue narrowed quite considerably when the utilities filed their storage regulation evidence, along with everybody else, on May 1st of 2006.  Up until that moment, everyone was anticipating that the utilities, and Union in particular, would maintain the position that it had taken throughout the NGF process, that competition was sufficient to justify forbearance from regulating all storage in Ontario.  

     The Board noted in its NGF report that the evidence of 

Union's experts in the NGF process was untested, and that's one of the reasons, I believe, that the question of the sufficiency of competition to protect the public interest was put on the agenda.  

     It is interesting to note that by May 1, 2006 the Union experts had modified their untested evidence during the course of the NGF process.  By May 1 -- well, during the NGF process, the contention was that the entire 250 Bcf of Dawn-based storage was subject to sufficient competition to protect the public interest.  


By May 1, we're down to 70 Bcf of Dawn-based storage being subject to competition, which, in the opinion of the experts, was sufficient to protect the public interest.  So we went from 100 percent down to 28 percent.  We're now down to 70 Bcf.  That's quite a switch.  Counsel for Union and MHP and EGD criticized Ms. McConihe for changing her mind.  

The bottom line, in my submission, is that as a result of the evidence filing by Union's experts on May 1, a filing supported by EGD's experts and by MHP’s experts to some degree, and also insofar as the in-franchise market is concerned, supported by Mr. Stauft's analysis and Ms. McConihe's analysis, the result is that there is a consensus, I submit, that competition is insufficient to protect the public interest with respect to those gas consumers who acquire Dawn-based storage from Union or EGD at a transaction point downstream from Dawn.  This was called the burner tip market, but I think it probably more accurately should be characterized as a transaction point downstream on Dawn.


So on the basis of what has emerged as a consensus with respect to 72 percent of the Dawn‑based storage market and the insufficiency of competition to protect the consumers of that segment of the market, there can be, in my submission, no forbearance of any aspect of rate regulation pertaining to the sale of that storage service to those customers.


There can be no transition to a complete forbearance end state, when it is acknowledged that competition is insufficient to protect 72 percent of the market using Dawn‑based storage.


The need to protect the interests of the 72 percent of the market acquiring Dawn‑based storage services from Union and EGD precludes a transition to a complete forbearance as an end state, and, in my submission, that proposition should be off the table; yet we have in argument both MHP and Enbridge urging you to find that such a transition is appropriate.  And there were various aspects of the transition that were discussed by members of the Board Panel in their questioning of witnesses and others, transition with a cap and other measures of transitioning to this end state.


I submit to you the arguments of MHP and Enbridge seeking endorsement, express or implied, for this transition, are without merit and should not be entertained as a result of the consensus that emerged in the evidence filings.


Now, what's left, in my submission, is a consideration of whether competition in Dawn‑based storage services transacted at Dawn is sufficient to protect the public interests.


The constituency of consumers, to which that issue relates today, are consuming about 70 Bcf of storage service.  It's only 28 percent of the total Dawn‑based storage market.


But we should also, in my submission, consider the issue from the perspective of the possibility that the other 72 percent, which currently acquire their Dawn‑based storage at transaction points downstream of Dawn, could move to Dawn.  And when you look at that segment of the market and analyze ‑‑ conduct a market power analysis, the price that applies to that segment of the market, today, prevailing in the marketplace is the 31 cents for Union and the 40 cents for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


So that's where that number is relevant to an application of a market power analysis in the context of what happens if those customers move to Dawn.  What is the ‑‑ is there sufficient competition to protect their interest?


The price at which you evaluate the 70 Bcf transacting at Dawn under the auspices of market‑based rates is an item of some difficulty to determine.  What they're paying is the dollar that we used in the ‑‑ during the course of the proceeding.  But from a regulatory perspective, there is, flowing back from that dollar, 70 cents in the Union's case and 60 cents in Enbridge's case.


So if you are looking at what is the overall regulated price of storage that's transacting at Dawn, there is a contention, I think, that can be made that it's something  -- something less than a dollar.  But the premium component of the current regulatory regime does muddy the waters somewhat.


For the purposes of my argument, I'm prepared to assume that the market power test, with respect to the 70 Bcf, takes place at an amount greater than the 30 cents and 40 cents, and I propose to use the 80 cents to a dollar that was discussed with the GMI and other witnesses, because even at that price, I will argue that there is no demonstration by Union that it lacks market power, under either the FERC test, and certainly not under the CRTC test, which I will address eventually.


So focus is now Dawn, not the entire market.  And the immediate volume trading there is 70 Bcf, of which 55 percent is being consumed by utilities, LDCs for whom the purpose of acquiring the product and the product that they require is annual load balancing.


The utilities are not interested in this notion that they could buy commodity year round at Dawn and balance their seasonal and annual requirements in that fashion.


You heard the evidence of GMI on that.  They weren't interested in that.  You heard the evidence with respect to industrial users.  Both Mr. MacDonald and Mr. Butler said that type of activity would be prohibitively expensive and extremely difficult to manage.  


Can you imagine trying to buy forward on a daily basis and having to unload if you overbought and supplement if you were underbought.  It strikes me as very inefficient and will be, I'm sure, according to the evidence, extremely costly exercise.


So the product that the utilities are interested in, in the Dawn‑based services, is the same product that the 72 percent of the market needs, which is storage injection, withdrawal and space without the commodity.  These people have their own commodity and they need to balance the flows on an annual and daily basis, and that's why they want the storage.


So that's one feature of the case that altered rather significantly with the evidence filings.  Another feature of the case which the evidence filings altered is this concern about price discrimination as between in-franchise and ex-franchise customers.  

     Based on the filings of the utilities, where they now accept that in-franchise customers should remain regulated under the auspices of cost-based rates, the option of eliminating the in-franchise/ex-franchise distinction really, from their perspective, disappears.  Their proposals are based on a continuance of the in-franchise/ex-franchise distinction.  

     Not only are they based on a continuance of it, we now have Enbridge, which never has distinguished between in-franchise and ex-franchise customers, now proposing to add that distinction to its regulation.  And for what purpose?  So they can jack up the rate to their affiliate, Gazifère, for storage services?


Now, Gazifère is like the other customers in the Enbridge system, the other in-franchise customers.  It's simply the end of the line for the distribution system.  It happens to cross the Ottawa River and provide delivery services in the Province of Quebec.  There is no separate stand-alone distribution operation, in terms of regulating the flows of gas and that kind of thing in the Province of Quebec.  It is just an adjunct of the Ontario gas distribution network of the systems owned by the ultimate parent, Enbridge Inc.  

     Gazifère is a customer that transacts its acquisition of Dawn-based storage at a point downstream from Dawn.  There is nobody knocking on Gazifère's door to sell it storage.  So here you have Enbridge coming in and trying to jack up the rate of that affiliate, for what purpose?  Enhance the returns of its owner.  

     So the price discrimination issue and concerns about it appears to us to have been considerably narrowed, based on the utility's proposals.  We have this continuance of the in-franchise and ex-franchise customer distinction.  So the consideration of alternatives appears to us to be now limited to the question of whether the ex-franchise customer category should be modified in some respect.  And we may have a few submissions on that point that we hope will be of some assistance, but I will make those later.  

     The hearing issues were narrowed as well by the settlement process, the special needs of the gas-fired generators, which was one of the priority items that prompted the hearing in the first place, were substantially resolved by the stakeholders, as reflected in the settlement proposals which you have now approved.  As far as I am aware the only gas-fired generators remaining to be resolved pertain to the development and pricing of this high deliverability storage service which some gas-fired generators require.


So the upshot of the evidence filing and pre-hearing processes is that the unresolved matters in issue really fall into two categories:  Unresolved matters pertaining to storage regulation, and that includes the Union/EGD-Enbridge high deliverability storage proposals; and then the second category is unresolved matters pertaining to Enbridge's unbundled, large-volume customers.  And there the issue is the eligibility for service on the redesigned rate 125, and some issues pertaining to the Rate 300 series, which are primarily applicable to industrial, large-volume customers who may wish to unbundle.  

     Others have listed the storage-related proposal made by Union, Market Hub, Enbridge and Kitchener, and Enbridge in its argument has outlined the non-storage related proposals it is making.  I do not intend to list them here.  I do have a bullet point to that effect in my section 2, but I won't list them here.  I will address them when I reach the end of this treatise.  

     That completes what I had to say on topic number 2, Mr. Chairman, and members of the Board.  

And moving to topic number 3, I have already addressed that; this is the adverse impact on ratepayers of current and end state forbearance proposals.

III. ADVERSE IMPACT ON RATEPAYERS OF CURRENT AND

“END STATE” FORBEARANCE PROPOSALS  

     MR. THOMPSON:  If what the utilities are asking for is granted, we are looking at rate increases ranging between $50 million and $174 million a year for storage services only.  

     Just at a high level on this notion that the competition out there is sufficient to protect the public interest, competition and storage services, you may recall in the material that I prepared for the cross-examination on storage regulation - this is Exhibit J7.1 - it was included at tab 2, the submissions of Enbridge, the submissions Enbridge made to the Natural Gas Forum.  

     In the system supply section of the document, you may recall that Enbridge -- you will find this at tab 5 of the submission which Enbridge made -- Enbridge was saying you shouldn't deregulate the sale of commodity in the in-franchise marketplace or in our market area, because there are only two marketers operating there.  

     So we have the rather odd situation where Enbridge is 

Saying the commodity market, which has been competitive for many, many years -- the commodity market in our franchise area is insufficiently competitive to justify forbearance from regulating -- having a regulated service available from us.  Then, on the other hand, they're saying, But, storage services, now that's another matter.  


And I would suggest to you:  If the commodity market isn't sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest, then there is no way the storage services market in the same area can be sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest.  So that's just another sort of high‑level observation on, Why are we here in the first place?


Now, the complexion with respect to two other matters which prompted this hearing in the first place also changed, in our view, rather significantly as the hearing progressed.  The first relates to this perception that we needed to deregulate all storage or forbear in regulating all storage services, Dawn-based storage services, to stimulate new storage development.  

And it has become quite clear, as the case has progressed before you, and clear in questions that you have asked, Mr. Chairman, of a number of witnesses, that that perception is a misperception.


We do not need to forbear on pricing pertaining to existing assets to prompt incremental storage development, and the reality is, even if you did forbear, it probably wouldn't prompt anything in that particular area.  But that perception that seemed to be a significant driver for the process is, in my submission, now revealed to be a misperception and incorrect.


The other item of this evidence that has emerged as a result of the testing of witnesses in this particular hearing is this evidence about the storage development potential.


Mr. Smith tries to resuscitate that by constantly pounding this Sproule report, which wasn't tested at all in the hearing, but we do have, in the record, the evidence of Mr. Grant of Enbridge, who indicated that he felt the potential was not terribly significant, and he put it at about 10 Bcf on the near horizon.  That was, I think, taking it out to about 2010.


So if that's right, there is only that level of potential storage development out there, does it really make any sense to be entertaining proposals which expose ratepayers to up to $174 million of annual rate increases?  How much do we need to throw at the owners of these utilities to stimulate 10 Bcf of additional storage development?


The third topic that I've included in my argument outline is described as an overview of the IGUA/AMPCO position with respect to the forbearance proposals.  I will express these in a little more detail when I get towards the end of my argument, but let me just quickly highlight for you what each of them is about, just so you can reconcile these with what others have said.  


IV. OVERVIEW OF IGUA/AMPCO POSITION RE: FORBEARANCE 

PROPOSALS


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Warren has, in his submissions, a summary of the relief that he is suggesting.  You will find that at paragraphs 103 and following.  

Then Mr. Aiken, in his argument, does the same.  I think you will find that with respect to the storage‑related requests for relief, you will find it summarized at pages 23 to 25 of his argument.  


So what is set out here in the overview piece of this argument outline is really the IGUA/AMPCO equivalent of what those gentlemen have included in their written arguments.


The first bullet point is one that I have already ‑‑ that I have already addressed, there can be no forbearance of any aspect of rate regulation pertaining to the sale by Union and EGD of Dawn-based storage to the customers which comprise the 180 Bcf that acquire the services at a transaction point downstream from Dawn.


The corollary of that is in the second ‑‑ excuse me, it's in the last sentence in the bullet point about there can be no transition to forbearance when this is the situation for 72 percent of the market.


The second bullet point is the one I will be addressing in more detail later.  It is our submission that the degree of competition which exists for those who acquire non‑based storage services at Dawn is insufficient to protect the public interest and cannot justify the scope of the forbearance relief which Union and EGD seek.


The third bullet point I have already mentioned, and that is, having regard to this position in bullet point 1, there is now no basis for eliminating the in‑franchise/ex‑franchise customer distinction.  As a result, we must focus on whether the value-of-service rate regime - what I call the existing regime - should be modified for any particular categories of ex‑franchise customers.


The fourth point is our overview position with respect to revenues at issue here.  We say, when determining the total revenue requirement recoverable from ratepayers, the Board's consideration and inclusion of revenues realized from the sale of storage and storage‑related services under the auspices of market‑based rates is necessary to assure an outcome which is a surrogate for a competitive market outcome.


I will address that in a little more detail subsequently, but my point is, in regulation, there are ‑‑ it's not just a pricing exercise.  There are a number of features to it.  One is a determination of the return to which shareholders are allowed.  So we say, regardless of the degree of competition in storage services which exists at Dawn, it is insufficient to justify the forbearance relief which Union seeks.


We have a similar point with respect to TS revenues, and the point that I'll be developing there in a little more detail, with evidence references, is that the objective, in my submission, of the regulation of TS ‑ which has always been sale of transactional services, always been conducted under the auspices of market‑based rates -- the regulatory objective is not primarily directed to the sales prices, but it is directed to stimulating the obligation of utilities to optimize revenues realized from the use of utility assets.  

     So that's the obligation to which the regulation is directed, and there's absolutely no rational basis for relieving Enbridge or Union from this obligation, and that's the effect of what the utilities are proposing insofar as it relates to storage services.  

     On the deferral account issue, one of the grounds for the discontinuance of deferral accounts that Union advances is that they can more reliably forecast revenues.  We say, and Mr. Aiken says with much more backup, not so.  Their track record does not support such an assertion.  And I commend Mr. Aiken's analysis of that issue to you.  

     So we say these deferral accounts pertaining to these activities should not be -- there must be a typo there -- should not be discontinued.  

     We have some submissions to make with respect to the allocation issues that Union has raised and Kitchener has also raised.  One pertains to Union's proposal to essentially alter its long-standing policy of allocating storage capacity to meet the needs of its in-franchise customers in priority to the ex-franchise customers.  The rationale for that policy, which goes way back, is not only the report that Mr. Ryder relies on in the Kitchener submission, but it also is rooted in the fact that Union has an obligation to serve in-franchise customers but it does not have an obligation to serve ex-franchise customers.  

     We say there have been no changes in circumstances to justify the freeze that Union is now proposing to impose on the amount of storage it allocates to in-franchise customers.  Section 29 has been on the books for some time, and it didn't suddenly surface now as a change of circumstances which justifies this long-standing policy rooted in, I think it's, the Langdon report, if I'm not mistaken.  But Langford -- is it the Langford report?  I may have it wrong.  

     On the point of the allocation of storage between in-franchise customers, Mr. Rupert was asking Mr. Moran, and I think Ms. Campbell, some questions about that.  

     Our position on that is:  We submit that the allocation needs to be sufficiently flexible to respond to the unique requirements of individual large customers, including LDCs such as Kitchener.  We've seen that Union's attitude was sufficiently flexible to respond to the special needs of the power generators.  So they have a unique storage allocation.  

     What we have in the T1 service area, as I understand it, based on the discussions that took place when the Kitchener panel testified and the Union panel testified, is there is a number of T1 customers that have what I would call an individualized allocation of storage.  That has been based on representations that have been made by Union repeatedly to these customers that what they have, they keep.  And these representations are reflected in contracts.  


So my submission to you will be that essentially what you have here is an estoppel, that these allocations could not be modified without first obtaining the consent of the large volume customers.  


In the case of Kitchener -- so we have that representation being reflected in the grandfathering and the settlement agreement and these contractual renewals.  And with respect to Kitchener, I don't know why they're ineligible for grandfathering or why Union should be treating them so differently than they treat other individuals that have unique requirements.  We take no position on whether what Kitchener proposes is what is reasonably required to meet its load-balancing needs.  

     We accept that the guiding principle should be what's reasonably required to accommodate load-balancing.  But if you are satisfied that what Kitchener has presented is -- meets that standard, that concept, then we think they should get what they need, just as the gas-fired generators got what was representative of their reasonable needs.  

 
So we're not objecting to the sort of overall average and excess methodology, but it has to be sufficiently flexible to avoid, in my submission, abuses, particularly when you head into a five-year, three-year incentive plan.  

We don't want Union pounding on everybody's door and saying, Sorry, you're now on market-based rates for your storage allocations reflected in your contract.  If that's what they're up to, then that can be precluded by supporting this estoppel proposition that we advance or, I guess, perhaps coupling it with some sort of complaint mechanism.  

So that's the kind of process that we have in mind.  

     The next bullet point is one that addresses this new storage development.  We reiterate that changes to Union and EGD rates are not needed to prompt new storage development.  Market-based pricing authority for new storage developers is all that is needed to stimulate such development.  

     The next bullet point is the overview position with respect to Union's obligation to respond to the needs of the in-franchise - excuse me - power generators.  We submit that Union does have an obligation to serve its in-franchise customers and that a failure by Union and EGD to develop and/or acquire incremental capacity which is reasonably needed to respond to the needs of its in-franchise customers should not be tolerated.  

     The cost consequences of Union and EGD ratepayers of acquiring storage services from third parties should continue to be carefully scrutinized to assure that they are just and reasonable.  I'll have a little more to say about that later, but I think one thing you want to be mindful of in this case is that we have Union and Enbridge saying we're not getting into the storage development business.  

And now we have MHP and the Enbridge affiliate, both of which have been reasonably dormant over the past few years, have suddenly surfaced.  And you don't have to put two and two together to say, Well, now Union's going to go out and buy from EGDI, and EGD will go and buy from Market Hub, and they will try and have the you‑scratch‑my‑back‑I'll-scratch‑yours approach to enhance returns of their owners.  We have to be mindful of that.  Mr. Fournier addressed that in his testimony.  


I don't know what the answer is, but that's one of the reasons why we say the cost consequences of the acquisition of storage service from third parties should continue to be carefully scrutinized to ensure that they are just and reasonable.


On the high deliverability storage, that point leads into the high deliverability storage point.  We support the power generators on this issue.  We believe this is a new and heretofore unavailable service, which you should initially regulate.  You should proceed cautiously before taking a hands‑off approach to the regulation of such services.


Now, you have options under your range of regulatory tools.  There's cost‑based.  You might have cost‑based with a premium.  There are many, many options that you might consider, but it should be regulated, in our respectful submission.


I'm moving into the guiding principles, Mr. Chairman.  I don't know if this would be a convenient time to take a break.  I'm sorry to be running out of voice.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll take 15 minutes, Mr. Thompson.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:36 p.m.
     --- Upon resuming at 2:50 p.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON (CONT’D):  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Yes.  I was turning to item 5 of my -- Roman numeral V of my outline:  Guiding Principles.  

V. GUIDING PRINCIPLES

(a) Terminology

MR. THOMPSON:  The first topic there is Terminology.  And I have listed a number of items of terminology that I believe should be discussed before we move into an analysis of the evidence with respect to matters in issue.  

     The first phrase that I submit needs to be discussed is the phrase “utility services.”  My submission to you is that regardless of the manner in which utility services are priced, one needs to remember that storage and storage-related services are public utility services, or public utility functions.  They are not, in the words of Mr. Reed, "non-jurisdictional," or they are not "non-utility services," such as mortgage-lending, with which this Board has had some experience in prior years.  

     The characteristics of public utilities and the services they provide are described in the cross-examination brief re storage regulation at J7.1.  

At tab 13 there are some excerpts from Bonbright dealing with this whole topic of the characteristics of a public utility.  

     You will see a number of these characteristics listed at pages 8, 9, and 10 of the excerpt from Bonbright.  The one I wanted to focus on was item number 2, where one of the characteristics of a public utility is that it provides a service that is important, essential, vital, perhaps a necessity for which present livelihood or future societal growth mandates the supply.  

     The point I wanted to emphasize here is that the storage services that form the subject matter of the forbearance relief that is being sought are utility services of this nature.  You're not regulating the sale of land on Muskoka, which is the analogy that one of the witnesses liked to use.  You are regulating services that are essential to the public.  

And in my submission, it's important to recognize that these services are utility services, because, I suggest, all revenues from the performance of all utility functions can be considered.  It's something that you can consider when determining the rates to be charged for utility services which you consider need to be fixed or rate-regulated.  

     As the regulator, it is my submission you're not obliged to treat the revenues and costs associated with the provision of utility services as if they were non-jurisdictional or as if they were non-utility, which I submit is exactly what Union and Enbridge effectively contend.  Just because the prices for the services are no longer being fixed by you in your regulation, you are still nevertheless free to bring some or all of the revenues, operating costs and capital costs associated with them into account.  

     So the notion that there is, under forbearance, this mandatory requirement that you have to segregate and allocate costs and capital expenditures associated with the generation of any particular source of utility revenues and, in some sort of particular manner, we challenge; we say, No, you don't have to do that with utility revenues.  You are free to bring them into account and as you have been doing for years with respect to TS revenues attributable to the use of utility assets and used to provide utility services.  

     We submit that the Union and Enbridge approach really would have you apply a non-utility exclusion methodology to revenues and costs and capital expenditures associated with utility activities, and this type of exclusionary approach is inappropriate, in our view, and need not be applied.  

     So your statutory power to forbear in part gives you full flexibility, in my submission, to bring utility revenues - however they're priced - into account, to the extent you feel it is appropriate to bring them into account.  

     The next item of terminology that I listed is Rate Regulation.  There is, in our compendium -- I think we have appended at some tab the section 36 of your Act, the OEB Act.  And where that is … I think it's at tab 9.  I know you are familiar with this.  


But this is what I call the rate regulation authority under your statute.  It is clear that you may make orders approving rates -- approving or fixing - this is under subsection 2 - just and reasonable rates.  

Under subsection 3, in approving or fixing just and reasonable rates, the Board may adopt any method or techniques that it considers appropriate.  

     Now, it was acknowledged by Union witnesses, Mr. Reed and, I think, EGD witnesses during their cross-examination – and, in my submission, cannot reasonably be challenged - that the Board's objective in setting just and reasonable rates is to establish prices which are a surrogate for a competitive market outcome.  

     We submit that in its regulatory determination of just and reasonable rates, a number of factors are considered and decided by the Board.  An extremely important one, in our view, is the return on investment which the utility is to be given the opportunity to earn from the performance of utility activities.


This determination is an important feature of public utility regulation.  The returns a utility should be given the opportunity to earn are to be reasonable in relation to the returns being earned by unregulated businesses of comparable risk, and I know you are all familiar with that statement of principle.


But in this context of what the return component of just and reasonable rates is to be, we submit an important factor to consider, when determining whether to forbear from rate regulation, at all, or in whole or in part, is not only whether there are substitutes available in the marketplace for the utility service being regulated but also the extent to which the forbearance relief being sought is likely to affect the returns being earned by the utility owner from the provision of utility services.


We submit that any forbearance in the performance of regulatory functions should be constrained in a manner which assures that the returns being earned will remain commensurate with the returns being earned by an unregulated business of comparable risk to the utility.  We submit that you should never forbear in a way which allows the utility owner to materially enhance its returns from provisions of utility services at the expense of the consumers of the utility services.


We submit that the utilities, Union, Enbridge, Market Hub, conveniently ignore the fact that the return constraint applies regardless of the approach that may be taken to the pricing of certain utility services.


We submit that the return constraint is an important feature of regulation which is designed to assure that the pricing of the utility services mimics a competitive outcome and thereby protects the public interest.


Stated another way, the competition is insufficient to protect the public interest if the forbearance relief that you grant produces a return which is not indicative of the return that would prevail in a competitive scenario.  And that competitive scenario is the -- for businesses of comparable risk to the utility.


So whereas in this case you have this evidence which Mr. Reed conceded were evidence of supernormal returns, the 80 percent that Union will earn from its ex‑franchise storage business line, if it gets what it's asking for, and the corresponding 44‑and‑a‑half-million-dollar rate increases to its distribution customers, what you have, in my submission, is a situation that fails to satisfy the section 29 test, regardless of what the market power situation is.


So I urge you not to overlook the important return component of regulation, which really is separate and apart from, I submit, the pricing, which you may or may not wish to change for utility services.


Moving, then, to the third item of terminology that I mentioned, forbearance in whole or in part, we submit that central to an analysis of the reasonableness of the forbearance proposals before you is a determination of when and, most importantly, to what extent regulation should defer to competition with respect to the provision of storage services provided by the utilities, subject to the Board's jurisdiction.


On a price-setting spectrum which has regulation on the left and competition on the right, the rate-setting mechanisms, moving left to right, include, in our submission, cost‑based rates, incentive rates which have a percentage cap, market‑based rates, with or without a ceiling, and then you move into forbearance in whole or in part.


Forbearance -- and what we're talking about in this case is forbearance in part.  That's the way the utilities characterize it, as I understand their submissions.


I submit that if you look at this from a practical perspective - there was a lot of statements made during the course of the proceedings, while the horse is out of the barn - you've already forborne on pricing.  

Well, in fact, as I will come to in a moment, I submit the existing regime is really a market‑based value-of- service pricing regime.  It is not technically a forbearance regime.  But when you look at it from a practical perspective, I agree that forbearance, in part, and an exercise of market‑based rate authority in practical terms, can lead to the same or a similar outcome.


Forbearing from fixing the price for a particular service but continuing to include revenues from all utility functions in your consideration of the revenue requirement recoverable from rates which are to be fixed leads to the same type of result as you obtain under market‑based pricing authority within the ambit of a value-of-service concept, which brings into account the revenues being realized from the disposition of utility services.  So there is an overlap, as we see it, between rate regulation and forbearance, in part.  

Our submission is that a regulator should not forbear in whole with respect to all aspects of rate regulation for a particular utility if the result is going to be an immediate and material increase in the price being paid for utility services.


An exercise of forbearance power should, in our submission, operate to benefit the consumers of the utility service and not subject them to massive increases in the prices for those services.  Any exercise of the forbearance power should be constrained in scope to assure that it produces a result for consumers of the services which is either the same as or better than they would realize under rate regulation.  

     We submit that that is really the only reasonable way to interpret section 29 in the context of the objectives which you are to apply under section 26 the legislation, the OEB Act to which Mr. Moran was referring this morning.  

     As he pointed out, one of the objectives is to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices of gas service.  And when you then read that objective, in my submission, in conjunction with the extent to which competition must be sufficient in order to protect the public interest under section 29, the only logical conclusion to draw is that regulation should give away to forbearance when you're going to have stability in price as a result of the conditions in the marketplace, and, if anything, a reduction in price.  

     If the immediate result is going to be a jump in rates for customers, then section 29 is not engaged unless you adopt mechanisms that prevent that result from achieving -- that result from ensuing.  

      MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Thompson, I'm sorry.  You did invite interruptions, I think.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, by all means. 

     MR. RUPERT:  I just want to make sure I follow this part of the argument. 

     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 

     MR. RUPERT:  The utility services that you referred to two bullets ago are in your example of the premium -- that's what you're talking about really, and the forbearance -- what are the utility services you're referring to?  Are you referring to the ex-franchise consumers?  Are they receiving the utility services as well as the in-franchise?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  

     MR. RUPERT:  So -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Storage is a utility service.  

     MR. RUPERT:  So you're saying that the ex-franchise consumers today -- and you know who they are, of course. You've been talking about it at length.  Those people are receiving utility services?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's my submission, yes.  

     MR. RUPERT:  That's your submission, okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  Can I just follow up on that?  Are they entitled to the same protections in defining the public interest, as you have, as the in-franchise customers?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that depends on, I would suggest, the extent to which competition is, in your view, providing them with some protection.  

     So they're entitled, I suggest, to protection.  

     MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Whether it's to the same degree or not is -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose competition treats them equally.  In other words, if there is a competitive market -- you heard my example this morning of comparing Enbridge to Gaz Métro.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  

     MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose, for the sake of this discussion, they had equal access to the competitive market, the same degree of protection.  

     Does it follow that the regulatory treatment should be equal?  Or are they in some special class?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Are the ex-franchise in some special class?  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I guess my answer would be as long as you adhere to the ex-franchise/in-franchise customer classification, then within the ex-franchise class, I suppose, to justify a differential in treatment, you would have to come up with factors that, in your view, are sufficient to distinguish between subclasses within the ex-franchise class.  

     So you could make a distinction on the basis that Enbridge and GMI are two utilities.  If you make that distinction, then GMI should get what Enbridge gets.  

     If you make the distinction on the basis that Ontario consumers in the ex-franchise market are to be treated differently than X Ontario, then you come up with the different answer.  So it's a customer classification issue, as I see it.  And you would have to have a basis for justifying a difference of treatment.  

     I say that because -- and I will come to the history in a moment, but IGUA was against this from day 1.  

     MR. KAISER:  Against the -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Once it got out of the barn, it wasn't the ratepayers’ fault.  It was Union that wanted to let the horse out of the barn.  And they succeeded in persuading the Board to let the horse out of the barn.  

     So what we're dealing with, with this distinction, is really something that Union advocated.  They represented to the Board that the premium that this produced should be credited to the cost of service to ratepayers.  The Board bought it.  And so they let a couple out of the barn.  Then they're back -- I will take you through these cases in a moment.  

But no sooner were they out of the barn, than they wanted to renew their M12 at market-based rates.  GMI agreed.  And so that was the beginning of this 

classification, in-franchise and ex-franchise, but it was rooted in the notion that they had an obligation to serve in-franchise but not an obligation to serve ex-franchise.  And they also relied on, and the Board relied on, this notion, Well, we should let them maximize the value of utility assets just like they do on the TS side.  

     But there was opposition to letting this horse out of the barn; and, as I say, the Board bought it.  So when you are questioning this, you really have to question -- you are questioning the Board's decision, in part.  I mean, you have to apply the appropriate principles to that aspect of the matter.  

     But for me trying to rationalize whether there are subclasses of ex-franchise customers that are deserving of different treatment, if I say like customers should be treated the same way, then GMI and Enbridge should be treated the same way, within the ex-franchise class.  Unless you say, Okay, Ontario is different.  Then X Ontario, and that you could rationalize on the basis of the Langford report.  And that's the only way, in my mind, you can have Enbridge and Kingston being treated differently than GMI.

      MR. KAISER:  What's the position of your client?  Do you think the ex-franchise customers, as currently defined, should be treated differently than in-franchise customers?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I'm going to have to get back to you on that.  

     This question came up -- I know Mr. Rupert was trying to nail down the IGUA witness panel on this point, and Mr. Fournier, I believe, said in an ideal world we'd put the horse back in the barn.  That's the way I interpreted what he said.  But he said, I am a pragmatist.  It's been out for so long, what do we do?  

     And Mr. Stauft, in his evidence, raised as a possibility -- you have to remember this question was raised in the Board's notice of proceedings.  So people were prompted to answer it.  Mr. Stauft put out a couple of ideas that I think might be reconciled with the core/non-core.  I think his idea was marketers might be treated differently than others.  

     But my client's view, I believe, is as stated by Mr. 

Fournier.  Ideally, we'd put the horse back in the barn.  But we recognize that's probably impractical and would involve creating instability, reversing board decisions.  But if the horse goes back in the barn, certainly all those who require this for load-balancing services should be treated the same, which would mean cost‑based, GMI, Enbridge, Kingston and perhaps marketers, but we would see them out there as ‑‑ these guys are in it for the commodity play.  They're not in it for the annual load-balancing requirements, which is the whole reason why the storage was built in the first place.  It is an adjunct of the delivery infrastructure, in our view.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON (CONT’D):


MR. THOMPSON:  So that brings me to this topic of value-of-service rates, and you may recall this was discussed with a number of witnesses.  There is, in the J7.1 at tab 12, these excerpts from gas rate fundamentals.


The reason these excerpts were provided is to attempt to demonstrate to the Board members that this market‑based pricing concept goes way back.  In fact, IGUA was formed in 1973, and, Mr. Chairman, you may remember this, because both Union and Northern Central were selling firm services under the auspices of range rates.


So there was this furor within the industrial community, Well, how come I'm at the top of the range and the other person with the same load characteristics as I do is at the bottom of the range?  

So the big push was to -‑ was against these value-of-service pricing models.  But the Board's adoption of those forms of pricing models is really based on not any competitive market analysis but on this notion that there are substitutes out there.  It could be oil.  It could be electricity.  It could be other forms of energy.  And some of these customers have choices, and so we're going to allow a range of pricing.


But in the text, in the value-of-service text -- and it starts at page 1 ‑‑ I think this is 156.  My eyes are going on me.  Yes.  You will see that the price, reading from the paragraph at the bottom of page 60, 156, "The Price": 

"Utility rates that reflect competitive factors are often called value-of-service rates.  ‘Value of service’ is shorthand for the highest price that a single customer is willing to pay for the service."


That's like Mr. Leslie's auction.  That price depends, in part, on the price and availability of alternative service, fuel oil, coal, et cetera.

With respect to an entire rate class, “value of service” can be defined as an area under an economist's demand curve.  And they go on and describe that.  

Then they say:

"Some critics characterize rates based on value of service as charging what the traffic will bear."  


What this pricing methodology recognizes ‑ and you will see it on page 158 ‑ is that at the end of the day, the so-called -- what they call the consumer's surplus, which is the premium, has to be accounted for in the utility's revenues, and they go on and say, towards the bottom of the last paragraph:   

"This can be accomplished by an iterative process whereby the use of the inverse elasticity rule.  In brief, the inverse elasticity rule calls for the scaling-down of revenue from the various customer classes inversely proportional to the price elasticity of demand of the various customer classes."  


The price of elasticity of demand is multiplied by the respective factors that are described there:

"Maximization of consumer surplus in the foregoing example is tantamount to the maximization of economic efficiency, subject to the constraint of the utility's revenue equalling its allowed revenue requirement."


And so that's the theory that is behind value-of-service pricing.  And in cost allocation studies, going way back, there are often many customer classes that ‑‑ whose rates produced more than cost to serve that particular class, and those were ‑‑ had an offsetting benefit for other customer classes.


In Union's case, the premium that is being captured by this ex‑franchise exercise is flowing back in a manner similar to that inverse elasticity rule.  The bulk of it goes to the smaller customers, and so if it comes out, I think, of the 44-1/2 million dollars, I think maybe 35 of it is for the residential.  That's in the evidence.  It's in the evidence somewhere.


So this -- long before we had forbearance, we have had value-of-service pricing in the Province of Ontario.


The fact that utilities sell services under the auspices of these market‑based rates does not mean the market in which the sales are taking place is a workably competitive market.  That's something that's never been proved in Ontario until the evidence being led in this case, and it does not mean that the utility lacks market power.  This is what the Unions and the MHPs say:  Hey, we've been doing this for 17 years.  This is a competitive market.  


That's never been demonstrated.  There's never been a market power analysis until this case.  And no one, I say, would suggest that Union lacks market power, because they historically, through ICG - or even today I'm not sure this applied - but they sell interruptible services under the auspices of range rates.  In other words, they can recover more than the costs to serve from a particular customer.  


Nobody would say that TCPL lacks market power simply because they sell interruptible services at a premium to cost‑based rates.


So don't draw any conclusions from these facts that these companies have been operating under the auspices of this kind of value-of-service pricing structure with respect to transactional services and the long‑term storage for some years.  That does not establish anything, in my submission, with respect to these specific market power tests that the FERC applies and also the CRTC applies.


That brings me to the next topic raised that I think requires some discussion, and that's this workably competitive market concept.  My submission to you is that a workably ‑‑ what is a workably competitive market is one that meets the FERC test.  In other words, there must be sufficient competition in the market to assure that an increase in prices charged by an incumbent market participant will prompt output from others to keep the price increase in check.  And if it exceeds 10 percent, then we do not have a workably competitive market.  

     That, in my submission, is what this phrase must mean in the context of these market power tests.  

I submit to you the returns on investment by participants in workably competitive markets are commensurate with the business risks of those markets.  Participants in workably competitive markets do not realize 80 percent returns on investment or supernormal returns.  

     Mr. Reed agreed that the returns were supernormal, but he said that's not evidence of market power.  It was certainly supernormal, and I will make my submissions on market power in a moment.  

Stated another way, if supernormal returns are being realized, then, in my submission, that is evidence that the market in which the participant is operating is not a workably competitive market.  

     The next item is bundled services -- next item, I'm sorry, is auctions.  If Mr. Leslie said it once, he said it a hundred times:  We auction our stuff off.  What more do we need to show?  Surely that's evidence that we don't have market power.  

     I submit to you the holding of open season auctions is irrelevant to a determination of whether Union does or does not lack market power.  If it were relevant, then you would think it would be expressed as a factor of importance in either the FERC test or in the CRTC test of market power.  There is nothing in there about auctions.  The FERC framework for conducting a market power analysis makes no reference to the selling of services by way of an auction as a factor to be considered.  

     The CRTC framework makes no mention of the subject.  No one, in my submission, would seriously suggest that the NEB forbear from regulating TransCanada because it decided to sell some firm services by way of an open season auction.  

The holding of auctions, in my submission, establishes nothing of relevance.  The fact that the prices Union gets keep getting higher and higher - and that's what GMI said, we keep paying more and more - is, in my submission, some evidence to be considered with respect to market power.  The auction is not constraining price.  It's driving it up.  


I reiterate, what we're dealing with here, we're not regulating the sale of luxury cottages or artefacts at 

Sotheby; we're regulating the provision of utility services.  


And this particular utility service storage was developed and operated, in my submission, initially and continues to be so today as part of the distribution transmission utility infrastructure.  

     Any scarcity premiums that are related to this infrastructure are related to the utility nature of the assets, which is why they are subject to regulation in the first place, we submit.  So I suggest the entire suggestion about auctions and scarcity premiums is totally irrelevant to a market power analysis under either of the FERC approach or the CRTC framework.  

     The next topic that requires some discussion is bundled services.  A great deal was said about the fact that storage services which are acquired at a transaction point downstream of Dawn are bundled with other services.  The extent to which they're bundled I will come to in a moment.  But bundled with what is something that you should be mindful of.  It's bundled with the distribution services that Union and Enbridge provide.  It is not bundled with the commodity.  

     The commodity is something that is being transacted separately in the direct purchase market and it is shown separately on the rate schedules.  That's why I have attached in the compendium at tabs 1 and 2 excerpts from the rate schedules of Union and Enbridge, so that you can see how the services are priced under each of the rate schedules.  

     Taking, for example, in Union T1, which is the one that applies to my client, you will see -- that's sort of about halfway through under the tab 1 -- you will see that the services for storage and distribution and other services are listed separately, so that the purchasers of these products are buying storage at a transaction point downstream of Dawn that on the menu of service is separate; although, in fact, it's bundled to some extent with the transportation service.  

     You will find the same thing in the Enbridge rate schedules.  


Just with respect to Gazifère, if you just wanted to look at their rate schedule, that is Rate 200.  It's about halfway through tab 2.  You will see there is a monthly customer charge.  There is the delivery charge.  There is gas supply load balancing charge.  So that's the load balancing service that we have been talking about so repeatedly.  Then we have the system gas, system sales gas supply charges.  


So there again -- and that's comparable to what the other rates are.  So there again Gazifère is acquiring its load-balancing services at a point downstream of the Dawn transaction point and is, in essence, identical to any other rate schedule that appears.  

     The other aspect of the rate schedules that relates to the market power analysis is there in the Union franchise area, there are unbundled rates.  They're the U2 rates that you find towards the back of the tab and the U7 rates, which is for larger volume customers.  U2 would parallel the M2.  U7 parallels the rate M7 customers.  

     But the importance of that schedule, in terms of market power analysis, is that the storage services there, unbundled, Mr. Stauft calculated that they would be at a price of about 29 cents.  So it is roughly equivalent to the 31 cents cost-based storage charge that is being paid by what Union calls bundled services, but that is the evidence, I suggest, of the appropriate price threshold to be applied in considering whether Union has market power against customers currently bundled under these large volume rates, on the assumption that they might move to Dawn.  That's a cost‑based storage charge for unbundled service.


So I just wanted to make sure we're all clear on the nature of the bundling that is downstream of Dawn and the extent to which the services, the storage services downstream of Dawn, are separately priced in the rate schedule.


The next topic with respect to terminology and the last item, you will be, I'm sure, happy to know, with respect to terminology, is this concept of good substitutes or good alternatives.  The market power issues in this case really turn on this concept of good alternatives, good substitutes.  And I wanted to discuss it as an item of terminology to make sure that we are on the same page in terms of its elements.


There were a couple of documents that were used by the various witnesses and used in cross‑examination to describe what constitutes a good substitute or a good alternative, and the first - and you probably don't need to turn this up - but it's the FERC 1996 policy statement, which was at tab 2 of the Board hearing team brief of documents.  Then the second was this more recent FERC ruling, final rule, that was issued on June 19th of 2006.


Let me just read for you the words that are in each of these documents describing this phrase, because the elements of it are important for the purposes of determining whether Union has demonstrated it lacks market power.


So in the 1996 policy statement, at page 22, the Commission states as follows:

"The Commission's analysis of whether a pipeline has the ability to exercise market power would include three major steps:  One, define the relevant markets; two, measure a firm's market share and market concentration; and, three, evaluate other relevant factors."


No quarrel on those steps by any of the experts.


Then under “Market Definition”:

"The first step is to define the relevant product.  Market definition identifies the specific products or services and the suppliers of those products or services that provide good alternatives to the applicant's ability to exercise market power."


Then they go on and say this:

"The term 'good alternatives' has been defined as an alternative that is available soon enough, has a price that is low enough, and has a quality high enough to permit customers to substitute the alternative for the applicant's service."


Then it goes on, under a heading "The Relevant Product" -- sorry, “The Product Market”:

"The applicant's service, together with other services that are good alternatives, constitute the relevant product market."


Then, in terms of onus, it says:   

"The Commission will require the applicant ..."  -- so that would be those seeking forbearance relief here -- "... the applicant to define the product market fully and specifically.  The applicant must also show how each of the substitute services in the product market are adequate substitutes to the applicant's services, in terms of quality, price, and availability."


It then goes on to deal with time lines in the context of the availability factor, but then with respect to price ‑ this is now at page 25 of the 1996 policy statement ‑ the policy statement says as follows:

"Along with showing that alternative capacity will be available in a reasonable time frame, the Commission will also evaluate whether the price for the available capacity is low enough to effectively restrain the applicant from increasing prices."


Just stopping there, the definition of market power, which is in Mr. Stauft's evidence - and I'm sure it's in here somewhere - is the ability to increase prices and sustain the price increases.  

So the test goes on:

"The price threshold is important because with a lower threshold, it becomes ostensibly more difficult for a potential alternative to the applicant's service to be considered a good alternative."


So the FERC policy recognizes the facts that we have in this case, that the cost‑based storage services are at a lower threshold.


Then it goes on:

"In prior cases, the Commission has defined such a threshold price as being at or below the applicant's approved maximum cost‑based rate plus 15 percent."


It then goes on and says it will now adopt a pricing threshold of 10 percent.


Then at the bottom of page 25 and over on to 26, the Commission says this:

"The Commission believes that if a company can sustain an increase in its rates in the order of 10 percent or more without losing significant market share, the company is in a position to exercise market power to the detriment of the public interest."


So that's the FERC 1996 policy statement.  We have this dispute, and Mr. Reed and the other utilities in argument are saying, Well, no, it's not rates.  It is some hypothetical threshold you're supposed to use in applying this test.  There is nothing in that policy statement to support that contention.


Then if you go to the cases under FERC and you go to the CNG case, which was in our J7.1 at tab 10, and you ask yourself, How does FERC apply its policy statement?  Is there anything in the decided cases that supports this notion we're supposed to use some hypothetical threshold in determining whether an applicant can demonstrate a lack of market power?


You will see at pages 33 and 34 this is a case, as was explained, I think, by Ms. McConihe, of an incumbent trying to get some market‑based rate authority at FERC.  At page 23 ‑‑ I'm sorry if I said 33 -- 23, the bottom of the page, the tribunal said:

"A critical element in the analysis of market‑based rate proposal is a study of the market price of the proposed service and whether the applicant can raise the price of service 10 percent or more without losing significant market share."


Then they go on:

"CNG submitted a pricing correlation co‑efficient study ..." -- sound familiar? -- "... purporting to show that it cannot exercise market power over the price of either storage or transportation service.  CNG’s study did not provide information about the cost of using alternatives, did not attempt to demonstrate that it could not increase its rates 10 percent without losing market share.

The policy statement indicates that the Commission would use 10 percent as the applicable price increase threshold unless an argument is made for a different threshold.  


CNG's market-based study ignores the pricing issue, just like the Schwindt study, the EEA study did.  

CNG, in this same filing, requests a total firm transportation rate increase -- rate over 20 percent, and a total firm storage rate increase of over 26 percent.  CNG projects almost no change in its long-term firm billing determinants as a result of these rate increases; i.e., no loss of market share.  CNG's rate increase filing is clearly indicative of an ability to exercise market power.  

     So there is a case in FERC where they're applying the policy statement and they're applying it on the basis of the existing rates and the results that would ensue if the request for market power increase were granted.  They say if it is over 10 percent, that is indicative of an ability to exercise market power. 

     There is no case in FERC to support this notion that we're supposed to be using some other hypothetical price threshold in the application of the FERC test.  So when you bring that back, when you bring that back to the case before you here and you are considering this question of good substitutes, then you have to, in my submission, apply the price threshold factor in the determination of a good substitute as FERC applies it.  There is no basis for doing what my friend, Mr. Reed, and the other folks suggest.  

     Turning to, then, the second topic that I wanted to touch on here -- and I don't know what time you plan to break, Mr. Chairman.  Is it 4:30 roughly?  

     MR. KAISER:  4:30.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I will still be going tomorrow, but I will hopefully get through this down to item 6.  This brings me to then the origin and nature of the existing storage services, regulatory regime.  I did have some discussion about that with you earlier.  

     Just before I leave the good substitutes point, I just wanted to mention that those concepts about what constitutes a good substitute are reflected in the most recent FERC ruling, and you will find the concepts addressed in the Commission determination, starting at page 16, paragraph 25 and running over to really all the way over to page -- what did I say?  16, paragraph 25 to page 22, paragraph 30, 34.  


For example in paragraph 27, the commission states:   

“For a non-storage product to be a good alternative, it must be available soon enough at a price low enough and have a quality high enough to permit customers to substitute the alternative for the applicant's services.  For this reason, we will evaluate potential substitutes in the context of individual applications for market-based rates.  

“In those proceedings, the applicant will have the burden to demonstrate that the non-storage products and services, as well as the other storage services used in its calculation of market concentration and market share, are good substitutes.”  

     So my submission is:  There's been no change in those concepts applicable to a determination of good substitutes between the 1996 policy statement and the 2006 policy statement.  They may be broadening what falls within a substitute determination, but you still have to do the price threshold analysis and the availability analysis, and there is a quantity aspect of this that is important.  


(b) History, Origin and Nature of the Existing 

Storage Services Regulatory Regime

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that, then, brings me to the history.  I wanted to attempt to demonstrate, hopefully clearly, how the existing in-franchise/ex-franchise regime which is being questioned got out of the barn in the first place; and to do that, you need the IGUA evidence, which has the cases at tabs 3, 4 and 5.  

     So the starting point for this is at tab 3, the EBRO 486-02 decision, which is a January 1996 decision.  What was in issue here, you will see from the decision starting at page 1, was Union filed a motion relating to a bidding process for the sale of storage services.  

     So Union coming in was trying to get board approval for this auction process that Mr. Leslie never stops talking about.  And you will see, in paragraph 3, that we wanted time to consider the implications of the request.  And the proposal that Union was asking the Board to approve is described starting at page 5.  


This was a proposal to basically put out to bid 13 Bcf of storage deliverability, which would be available if a forthcoming facility’s application to the Board is approved.  There is a description of the proposal in detail.  

Then if you go over to page 6, this is where this notion about the premium comes up.  It's going to go out to bid.  We're going to get more than our costs.  

Union then says 2.08:  Union stated that the proposed allocation –- sorry, it starts at 2.07, where Union is describing that a bid in excess of the costs will result in lower rates to in-franchise customers as long as the market premium is allocated to those customers.  


It goes on saying it hadn't determined the allocation to the shareholders and ratepayers, that its current position was that the premium would be allocated to in-franchise customers but the assessment of the allocation was an issue that should be dealt with in a rates case.  

     The case goes on to describe Union's description of the market.  

You will see 2.011, Union testified that the market for storage services is competitive, and stated that:   

“We believe that as good stewards of the assets, it is a good thing to find what storage is really worth in the marketplace and to the extent a premium exists, that comes back to the credit of our overall cost of service."


So here's the emanation of the representation, Let the horse out of the barn.  It will be good for our overall cost of service.


It then goes on and describes the active secondary market and able to realize premiums, and the case carries on in describing the views that others had of this particular proposition.  

Ms. Chown testified, Sharon Chown, a witness known to the Board in prior years, testified on behalf of Direct Energy.  The position of the parties is described starting at page 10.  Here again we get Union in 2.0.22:   

"Union argued that there were unlikely to be negative cost consequences to in‑franchise customers since in its proposal they would receive the benefits from the economic rents arising from the difference between the market price and the cost‑based rates for storage.  

“Union submitted that this allocation of the rents was appropriate since in‑franchise customers had paid for the development of the storage.  Union argued that since there were no obligations on parties currently in the long‑term storage queue, there were also no rights to the storage." 


I.e., this is this theme:  We don't have any obligation to serve ex‑franchise -- ex‑franchise customers.


Here, again, the representation that -- this goes back to the ratepayers.  And note that it's not because they owned the assets; it's because they had paid the costs that Union incurred to finance the acquisition of the assets.


Then, in response to this, there were a range of submissions.  Our client, IGUA, in 2.0.26 said that whatever jurisdiction the Board had under the Act, it does not have the power to approve two rates that are radically different for the same service.


So here we were saying this is -- has the appearance of being discriminatory.


We said the Board couldn't find there's a competitive market for Union's storage, since it's inextricably linked with Union's transmission and distribution service.  So we argued if an activity is regulated, it should earn a reasonable return on its cost, nothing more and nothing less.  And if there are going to be radical changes, it requires careful study.


Others made submissions to a similar effect.  2.0.33 you see Gaz Métro, now partially owned by Enbridge Inc., but then not.  GMI argued that Union's proposal could lead to undue discrimination and unfairness towards customers and would deprive GMI of its acquired rights to storage at cost‑based rates as a whole or of the lead position in the long‑term queue, and so on.


So there, too, it has changed a little bit since that date.


The Board concluded in that particular case - you will find that starting at page 15 - that Union's motion poses more questions than it answers.  Then it notes also in 2.0.43:

"In addition, the Board has no information on Union's market power in the Ontario storage market."


So the horse didn't get out of the barn on that particular occasion.  It was kept in the barn.  

But if you go to the next tab, Union was back by September 1997 taking another stab at it.  And this time - this is the 493/04 decision - the horse got out of the barn.


What was before the Board in that particular case were a number of topics.  But if you look at page 1, at 1.1.2, you will see that amongst the requests for relief that Union was seeking was an order pursuant to 22.2 of the Act approving the parties to the term of and the storage capacity that is the subject of certain proposed agreements between Union and customers for the storage of gas resulting from an open season bidding or tender process and any other order or orders deemed appropriate by the Board.


If you go to the next page, you will see that the two contracts that were being discussed were a contract with Union and CoEnergy Trading, and Union and Renaissance Energy Ltd. 


And the terms of the contract were long‑term.  They were long‑term contracts.  I think they might be described in more detail later.


You will see at page 8 that Union's two contracts for CoEnergy, one was for five and the other was for ten.  Another proposed two contracts with Renaissance for ten years.  So these were long‑term storage contracts.


At that time, anything short term was being treated as a transactional service type of arrangement.  So it would be like interruptible service, the short-term storage. 


 So our position on this -- these contracts you will see at page 13, the bottom of the page.  IGUA's position was the Board could approve the features of these contracts subject to compliance with the C1 short-term rate schedule with a redefinition of the phrase "short term".  


We stated that the proposed ten-year terms were unacceptable, argued that the contracts should only be for a short term and, in order to allow the volumes to be recalled to meet in‑franchise requirements, in IGUA's view, at the very least, the contracts should have a review clause and recall provision.  


So we were trying to make these things interruptible, in essence, and if they were, then we would be satisfied with them.


The Board findings with respect to these contracts you will find at page 15, and the bottom line was, after discussing the pros and cons, they approved the parties to a period of and the amount of storage space that is subject to these letters of intent.  So those two guys got out of the barn.


Over in another section of the decision, here's the deferral account coming up.  You will find this at page 21, the bottom of the page.  This is now dealing with the premium.  There's a paragraph in here that describes the anticipated premium from these two deals.


Then the Board says, paragraph 2.4:   

"In its prefiled evidence, Union suggested that 100 percent of the market premium should be allocated to a deferral account to be used to offset the cost to customers of future storage and transmission facility development."


So now it wasn't going to a credit to the cost of service.  It seemed like it was going to be a credit to rate base, but at the end of the day the Board, at page 24, directed Union to proceed with the contracts.  The market premium should be captured in a deferral account until Union's next rate hearing, and then it describes how the premium should be calculated.  And there were some directions as to how to deal with the premium in future test periods.


So the horse got out of the barn and on representations that the premium should be a credit to ratepayers.  And the other aspect of the decision that sort of dealt with horses getting out of the barn was the renewal of M12 storage contracts issue.  You will see that topic discussed starting at 26, and it goes all the way over to 34.  But this was the feature of the decision that Gaz Métro described in its evidence in this case, where they, in effect, got a two-year extension of their cost-based arrangement with Union.  Then after that, it would be subject to negotiation.  

     So that's how the horse got out of the barn.  

And then in the next case what you have is we've now moved to -- we've moved through some settlement agreements and this premium was dealt with in those agreements.  Now we come up to the base.  This is the base for the PBR that Union was proposing.  This is the 1999-0017 decision.  


It's in this decision where we see Union now trying to confiscate this premium.  So what you have -- and it's described at page 134:   

“Union proposed to continue to provide storage to in-franchise customers at rates based on a fully distributed cost basis subject to escalation under the PBR price cap.  

     Union proposed to renew existing M12 storage contracts at market prices, citing the Board's decision in EBRO 494-3, in which the Board approved market providing for incremental storage, provided to ex-franchise customers.  Union commented that it has no obligation to serve ex-franchise customers and that these customers have access to alternative storage services.”  

     The next paragraph deals with now the proposal to close the market premium account.    

     Going forward, any premium above the cost of the service would be immediately recorded as revenue and used to manage risks to which the company's operations would be exposed under the new PBR plan.  


Mr. Baker basically said the same thing in this case.  He said one of the reasons for the framework as we go forward was one where we could manage our risks.  

     Then there's another aspect of this that you should be aware of.  At page 138, you will see in the paragraph 2.4.93 that GMI agreed to renew its contract at market rates.  

     So GMI took the Board's case, the previous decision as a signal that the market-based rates are the way we are to go, and so they agreed to it.  

     Our position, by this time, the horse was out of the barn.  You will see described at page 135 we accepted the proposal to renew M12 storage contracts at market rates - GMI had already agreed to it - but took issue with the proposed disposition of the margin.  

     So this is now debating the premium issue, and there are other submissions on that. 


At page 139, you get Union's then-position on the premium.  In paragraph 2.495, regarding the claim that margins generated by the company's assets ought to be to the credit of the ratepayers, Union's position was that ratepayers had paid for the services from the assets and not for the assets themselves.  

     And that's right, and that was the basis -- really all the Board had stated, in my submission, in the earlier decision.  

But that then takes us to the Board's findings with respect to this premium issue.  They start at page 140, at the bottom of the page.  You will see the Board stated:

“At issue in this proceeding was the treatment of any premium that exists due to the differential between market price and embedded cost of storage.  The Board notes that in a previous hearing Union argued that the premiums 

resulting from market-based rates for storage services rightfully belonged to the ratepayers, as the ratepayers had substantiated the assets.  Since the ratepayers had taken on the risks and paid rates designed to cover the costs, they should receive any reward.  

“The Board notes that the market power referred to in discussing this issue is not necessarily a surrogate for a market power or a competitive market.”  

     So here is the Board reciting the representation made by Union that led to the horse getting out of the barn.  
Over on page 141 -- just as an aside, up to this point, 100 percent of the premium, this long-term storage premium, was being credited to ratepayers, I believe.  


Then on page 141, the Board notes it has:

“… in the recent past provided an incentive to Union through a sharing of the premium on transactional services to encourage the company to pursue opportunities to increase the efficient use of the assets.  The Board has not, to date, applied any sharing with respect to the premium on storage.  The Board recognizes that there should also be an incentive to efficiently manage the existing storage capacity in Ontario." 

     So this is this concept of maximizing utilization of utility assets that's creeping in here to justify allocating a share of its premium to the shareholder.  

     The Board then, in paragraphs at the bottom of the page, disposes of these issues about these accounts, transactional services, deferral account and the long-term storage services account.  

     So the Board -- the last paragraph:

“The Board recognized that the assets necessary to provide both transactional services and long-term storage services have been paid for by Union's customers.”

That sentence, in my submission, has to be read in the context of the earlier statements to the effect that what was being referred to, that the costs of enabling Union to finance the acquisition of the assets that were paid.  There's not an ownership issue here, as far as my client is concerned, and I don't think the Board meant that when it made that statement.  

“Providing the company with a financial incentive to maximize revenues for these services should increase benefits to both consumer and the shareholder.  Consequently, the Board authorizes a sharing net revenue 75/25 between ratepayers and shareholders.”  

     And they go on:

“The long-term premium deferral account should be allocated 100 percent to the ratepayers for 1999 and 2000, with the sharing to be in the future year.”   

     So what I submit to you is that this concept of ex-franchise customers paying market-based rates was induced by Union by representations that the premium should be credited substantially to ratepayers.  The Board bought it.  The Board acted on it.  The Board relied on those representations in preventing Union from confiscating the premium in 2000, and there's an estoppel that arises, in my submission, from these historical circumstances.  

     Union cannot now, like they couldn't in 2000, confiscate the premium.  

     Section 29 was on the books, I believe, in that case  -- 1999-017.  The date of the decision is 2001.  Union didn't raise the issue then, and the Board's decision, in my submission, in effect of finding an estoppel should be sustained.


Now, in terms of ‑‑ so that's the history.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson, just before you leave that point, the next paragraph - this is on 142 - 2.5.06, the Board said:  

"Based on the evidence in this proceeding, the Board is unable to determine whether storage service can evolve to become workably competitive."


Then they go on to say it is wise to exercise care with respect to long‑term contracting storage.


Why did the Board make that determination?  You were in this case.  Was there an issue back then as to whether this was a competitive market and the Board should forbear from regulating the price?  Why was that conclusion necessary for this analysis?


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't have any independent recollection, sir, from what's in the reasons.  The only observation I could make is that -- taking it back to the paragraph in 2.5.01, page 140, where the Board noted that the market price referred to in discussing this issue is not necessarily a surrogate for a market power in a competitive market.


So whether it was of its own motion leaving that item open for another day or whether that was based on submissions made and arguments made by parties, I can't quite frankly remember.  I'm not terribly helpful, but that's the best I can do.


The other point with respect to history that I would like to draw to your attention -- perhaps just before I leave the history on the storage, ex‑franchise/in‑franchise, and premium history, what I have included in my notes here - and there is some information in our compendium on - is the extent to which the Board ‑‑ well, first of all, I say Union is estopped from confiscating this premium.


But on this issue of its in‑franchise/ex‑franchise classification, the Board is not bound by prior decisions, but the Board has said in prior proceedings that prior decisions need to be respected.


I have just included in the brief on that point - this is in the compendium - at tab 13 ‑‑ well, tab 12 is an excerpt from Mr. Brown's text dealing with the effect of prior decisions.


Then at tab 13 there is an excerpt from the Board's November 1, 2004 decision in the Enbridge case where, at 5.3.3, on page 45, the Board said:  

"The Board relies on the guidance provided in past decisions on this subject, and this guidance fundamentally settles much of what is being disputed.  Although the Board is not bound by previous decisions, they have a high degree of persuasive value."


I don't put it any higher than that, but I wanted you to be aware that this concept was a Board‑approved concept and it was induced by promises by Union, which it now seeks to revoke.


Another feature of the history that I think needs to be emphasized in this particular case is the basis upon which existing storage, Dawn-based storage assets, were developed.  It's uncontradicted, in my submission, that these assets were initially developed and Board approval for their instruction was based on their use as an item of gas delivery infrastructure.


You may recall I asked - I can't remember whether it was the Union or Enbridge people - how they justified the economic feasibility of the storage assets.  It was on the basis of the delivery infrastructure, economic feasibility analysis.


So I submit to you there is absolutely no doubt that these assets were developed as an adjunct to the upstream transportation and distribution delivery systems in Ontario, and the fact of the matter is that if you include all of the Dawn-based storage being used by Enbridge, which is in‑franchise, you include the Union storage assets that are being used by in‑franchise customers, i.e., for this load-balancing function, and you include the GMIs and the Enbridge and Kingston, I make it that about 218-1/2 Bcf of the 250 is being used for what I characterize as the annual load-balancing function.  


So that the product -- this is relevant to determining the product which Dawn-based storage represents to the bulk of the market that uses it -- is this delivery‑related product, space, injection and withdrawal to be used for seasonal load balancing.


Having regard to its nature as essentially utility gas delivery infrastructure, it should be continued to be regulated as other parts of the gas delivery infrastructure.  The development history is relevant to that submission.


One further item of the -- well, perhaps I could just finish these history points and then we could break, Mr. Chairman.


I mentioned this previously, but there has never been an in‑franchise/ex‑franchise customer classification as part of the Board's regulation of EGD, and, in my submission, there's no reason to now introduce it.  Gazifère is not a customer that is acquiring storage at Dawn.  It is acquiring storage downstream, and Dawn, in any event, is subject to a massive ‑‑ market power by Enbridge.  It's at the end of the line.


No one is at Gazifère's door selling storage services, so EGD should not be allowed to raise their rates by whatever it is they propose to raise them.


I think there is an undertaking response provided by Enbridge about the impact of what they're proposing on Gazifère, but I don't have that at hand.


The other aspect of history - and I had mentioned this also - is the history with respect to the third party storage providers.  The history with respect to independents, the independent storage providers, is relatively short and you have authorized Tribute and perhaps others, Tipperary, to operate under the auspices of market‑based rates.  Those entities are still subject to other aspects of regulation, so it is not complete forbearance that applies for them.  Probably more appropriately characterized as a market‑based pricing regime, in my submission.


The other third party storage providers are the affiliates of Union and Enbridge, and I've mentioned previously that we have to be mindful not only of the ARC, in terms of these entities, but the you-scratch-my back-and-I'll-scratch-yours relationship between ‑‑ with respect to storage contracting between Union and Enbridge.


The evidence -- we had this a couple of years ago when Enbridge made a deal with Union on market-based rates.  It was before the expiry of their cost-based contract, and I believe the Board decision with respect to that is -- it's in one of these briefs.  I will find the reference later.  


And now we know that as of April of this year, Enbridge agreed to pay Union a rate for storage which was 

180 percent higher than the cost-based rate it was previously paying.  

     As Mr. Stauft says - and as I agree - that in and of itself under the FERC test is evidence of the extent to which Union has market power over Enbridge with respect to or pertaining to cost-based services.  

     Now, why Enbridge and GMI just roll over and take this pricing, I'm not quite sure.  But I have my suspicions.  It's based on holding company ownership.  

     That leaves me with Board powers.  I see it is 4:30, so I will probably be another –- well, a little bit to finish up tomorrow.  

Is it convenient to break now, sir?  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, sir.  We will come back at 9:30 tomorrow morning.  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I should advise the Board that based on the submissions that my friend has just made, that we're going to seek leave to burn the barn down; and if we can find the horse, we're going to shoot it.  

     Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:35 p.m. 
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